DATA QUALITY ASSURANCE

S

Module 2 Discrete desk review of data quality IMPLEMENTATION GUIDE



9 9 2

8

9



S The Global Fund

3

9









Module 2 **Discrete desk review of** data quality

IMPLEMENTATION GUIDE





Gavi 🐼 S The Global Fund





Guidance for institutionalising health technology assessment mechanisms for reimbursement

ISBN 978-92-4-000854-0 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-000855-7 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2020

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Guidance for institutionalising health technology assessment mechanisms for reimbursement. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its us.

Design and layout by L'IV Com Sàrl, Switzerland

Printed in Switzerland

Contents

Acknowledgements. vi
Abbreviations vii
Chapter 1. Overview and methods 1
Background 1
Objectives 2
Methodology 2
Discrete desk review. 3
Indicators 4
Cross-cutting versus in-depth 5
Chapter 2. Planning and coordination 6
Roles and responsibilities 6
Ministry of Health 6
Implementation agency 6
Agency providing quality assurance and technical support
DQA Coordinating Committee
Partners
Other elements
Indicator selection 7
Timeline
Budget
Independence 8
Select the tool 9
Gather the data 9
Data requirements 9
Chapter 3. Configuring the tools for use
Installing and configuring the Desk Review DHIS2 Tool 11
Configuring the Desk Review Excel tool 12
Configure Tool tab

iii

4 8 V 1 3 4 0 1 3 4

S

9

Input Basic Info tab	14
Select Program Areas and Indicators	16
Review and/or edit Data Quality Thresholds	17
Inputting data into the Excel tool	18
Completeness and timeliness of reporting	18
Input population data	19
Input data on trends	21
Input indicator data	21
Chapter 4. Conducting the desk review analysis	23
Overview of analysis with DHIS2 data quality app	23
Dashboards	23
Analysis tab	28
Annual Data Quality Report	34
Overview of analysis with the Desk Review Excel tool	37
Domain-specific dashboards	38
Chapter 5. Dissemination and use of DQA results	48
Data validation workshop	48
Final report	50
Develop a Data Quality Improvement Plan	52
Purpose	52
Data Quality Improvement Plan – the process	52
Example data quality problems and potential solutions	59
Accuracy of reporting	60
Missing or incomplete data	64
Example outline of a Data Quality Improvement Plan	66
Annex 1: Recommended indicators	68
Core indicators	68
Additional indicators	68
Annex 2. Recommended indicators – Quality Desk Review	70

List of tables

- Table 1. Core indicators
- Table 2.
 Template: Agenda for Data Analysis and Verification Workshop
- Table 3.Stakeholder engagement matrix
- Table 4.Intervention prioritization matrix
- Table 5. Example table for scheduling and budgeting activities

List of figures

- Figure 1. WHO Data Quality tool (DQA) app available in the apps repository of DHIS2
- Figure 2. Configure the WHO Data Quality tool for analysis administration page
- Figure 3. Desk Review Excel tool Configure tool tab
- Figure 4. Configuring the Desk Review Excel tool Input Basic Info tab
- Figure 5. Configuring the Desk Review Excel tool Selecting Program Areas and Indicators
- Figure 6. Configuring the Desk Review Excel tool set Data Quality thresholds
- Figure 7. Inputting data into the Excel tool information on completeness and timeliness of reporting
- Figure 8. Programme-specific data flow and frequency or reporting
- Figure 9. Programme-specific quality thresholds for completeness and timeliness of reporting
- Figure 10. Inputting data into the Excel tool standard populations (Domain 4 comparisons)
- Figure 11. Inputting data into the Excel tool indicator populations (Domain 3 comparisons)
- Figure 12. Inputting data into the Excel tool input annual data values to evaluate trends
- Figure 13. Inputting data into the Excel tool input indicator data
- Figure 14. Colour coding of outliers on data input tabs
- Figure 15. DHIS2 Data Quality App menus
- Figure 16. WHO Data Quality tool dashboard
- Figure 17. Selecting districts
- Figure 19. DHIS2 Data Quality tool consistency data
- Figure 20. DHIS2 Data Quality tool outliers
- Figure 21. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool Analysis tab, select data
- Figure 22. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool selecting the period for analysis
- Figure 23. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool select boundaries for analysis
- Figure 24. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool select different options for the analysis
- Figure 25. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool select the analysis type for consistency
- Figure 26. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool consistency over time (Analysis menu)
- Figure 27. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool Annual Data Quality Report, selecting organizational units
- Figure 28. Annual Data Quality Report Summary
- Figure 29. Annual Data Quality Report Domain 1: Completeness of reporting
- Figure 30. Annual Data Quality Report Domain 2: Consistency over time
- Figure 31. Desk Review analysis Summary dashboard
- Figure 32. Domain 1: National district completeness
- Figure 33. Completeness of indicator data

- Figure 34. Consistency of reporting completeness
- Figure 35. Internal consistency extreme outliers
- Figure 36. Internal consistency consistency over time
- Figure 37. Internal consistency consistency between related indicators
- Figure 38. External consistency comparison with survey values
- Figure 39. Consistency of population data comparison with UN population estimate of live births
- Figure 40. Input Standard Populations tab input user-defined indicators
- Figure 41. Consistency of population data consistency between estimates from different data sources

8

6 L E

Acknowledgements

This toolkit is the result of collaboration between the World Health Organization (WHO), The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (The Global Fund), Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance (Gavi) and the United States Agency for International Development (USAID)/MEASURE Evaluation.

The toolkit proposes a unified approach to data quality. It integrates and builds upon previous and current tools and methods designed to assess data quality at facility level, taking into account best practices and lessons learned from many countries.

Kavitha Viswanathan oversaw the technical development of the toolkit, with overall guidance provided by Kathryn O'Neill and with technical input from Ties Boerma, David Boone, Robert Pond, Olav Poppe, Claire Preaud, Ashley Sheffel, Amani Siyam, and Marina Takane.

All modules in the toolkit are based on technical contributions from WHO departments and programmes as well as other agencies, with specific contributions from Isabelle Bergeri, Txema Callejas, Thomas Cherian, Richard Cibulski, Katherine Floyd, Marta Gacic-Dobo, Philippe Glaziou, Jan Van Grevendonk, Peter Hansen, Chika Hayashi, Ryuichi Komatsu, Chung-won Lee, Michael Lynch, John Puvimanasinghe, Annie Schwartz, Alka Singh, Hazim Timimi, Serge Xueref, Nathalie Zorzi.

Particular thanks are due to the country partners that tested and implemented different components of the approach and provided valuable feedback, namely: Benin, Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Kenya, Mauritania, Sierra Leone, Togo, Uganda, Zambia, and Zanzibar in United Republic of Tanzania.

This toolkit has been produced with the support of grants from the Bloomberg Philanthropies Data for Health Initiative; Gavi; the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; and the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (Norad).

vii





4 °-5

Chapter 1. Overview and methods

Background

The (DQA) is a methodology for rapid evaluation of the quality and adequacy of health data used for planning. The DQA aims to institutionalize data quality assessment as a systematic and routine aspect of health-sector and programme planning and to provide a minimum standard of quality for routine health data. It is intended to be applied across programme areas to provide a holistic picture of country data quality from health facility-based information systems, and to identify areas in need of strengthening. The methodology and indicators for the DQA have been developed in consultation with international health programme experts from leading donor and technical assistance agencies such as the World Health Organization (WHO), Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance (GAVI) and The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (the Global Fund) and constitutes consensus on a minimum standard for data quality.

The DQA examines data within four domains; 1) completeness and timeliness of data, 2) internal consistency of reported data, 3) external comparison with other data sources, and 4) consistency of population data used in the calculation of rates for monitoring programme coverage. Within these domains priority indicators are examined to find anomalous or extreme values, quantify missing or zero values, and evaluate reporting consistency over time. The output of the DQA is intended to highlight potential data quality problems and stimulate discussion about their causes. Implementation of the DQA should result in action plans to fill gaps, correct errors and strengthen health-sector planning data.

Implementation of the DQA can help build confidence in the data for both national and external stakeholders. Knowing the data and their limitations can improve decision-making during planning exercises and provides reassurance to donors and other key stakeholders that the evidence base for planning has undergone a known minimum level of scrutiny that adheres to international standards.

The DQA is a cross-cutting tool for all health-facility administrative data which can be supplemented by in-depth programme-specific assessment on a periodic basis. It is intended to harmonize with, or work alongside, existing programme-specific tools with similar aims. It should be implemented with an element of independence in order to promote transparency in the data and the health-sector planning process.

The DQA is a suite of tools and guidelines, including electronic tools to facilitate data collection and analysis. These guidelines provide instructions for collecting the data, preparing the data for analysis, conducting data verifications, analysing and interpreting the results, as well as guidance

1

on how and when to apply the methods. The electronic tools facilitate data analysis and presentation as well as the identification of problematic data points and subnational reporting units.

Objectives

The DQA is designed to assess the quality of data generated by information systems based in health facilities. The objectives of the DQA are:

- to institutionalize a system for assessing the quality of data, including routine monitoring of data, discrete Data Quality Assurances (conducted annually) and periodic in-depth assessments of priority health programmes;
- to identify weaknesses in the data management system and interventions for system strengthening; and
- to monitor the performance of data quality over time and the capacity to produce goodquality data.

Methodology

The DQA is envisioned as a suite of regularly implemented tools coordinated to provide an evidence base for data quality in advance of health-sector planning. The suite of tools has a variety of components, each with recommended periodicity. The tools and methods include:

- Site assessment of data quality and system capabilities
 - Discrete site assessment at facilities and districts data verification and system assessment (DV/SA) on a nationally representative sample of health facilities to provide information on the accuracy of reporting for priority indicators that are generalizable to all health facilities providing the service. Ideally conducted annually, the site assessment should be implemented as often as is feasible with country resources and should feature prominently in the health sector's five-year planning cycle.
 - Routine data quality assurance checklists a system of routine and regular (i.e. monthly) reviews of data quality of the health management information system (HMIS) or other programme reporting systems as part of a feedback cycle that identifies and rectifies errors in near real-time. The routine reviews are conducted as a part of regularly scheduled supervisory visits to health facilities using a standard data quality checklist. This routine system of data quality checks has two components: monthly self-assessment of HMIS data conducted by health facility staff, and a periodic (ideally quarterly) assessment of health facility data by district-level staff during supervisory visits to the health facility.

- Data quality desk review an analysis of aggregate reported data in the HMIS to look for gaps, outliers and inconsistencies for priority indicators across health and disease programmes.
 - Discrete assessment An ad hoc desk review of data quality usually conducted at national level and scheduled to coincide with a discrete site assessment of data quality and system capabilities, an annual planning event, or used to investigate suspicious reporting patterns.
 - Continuous desk review of data quality routine (e.g. monthly) analysis of standard metrics to determine completeness and consistency of reported data from health facilities. This should ideally be conducted at the district level for facilities in the district so that errors are found and corrected as they are reported. The review can also be applied at the national level and for specific health and disease programmes.

The DQA framework documents describe the methodology (how it is conducted) and metrics (what is assessed) used in the DQA and provide guidance on the use of all these tools. This *Implementation guide* is specific to the discrete site assessment of data quality and system capabilities and addresses requirements for conducting a health facility assessment on a sample of health facilities. A sister document – the *DQA Implementation guide for discrete desk review* – is also available.

The DQA framework documents can be accessed here: URL

The DQA Implementation guide for site assessment of data quality: data verification and system assessment can be accessed here: URL

Discrete desk review

The DQA Desk Review assesses data quality through four domains:

- 1. Completeness and timeliness of reporting.
- 2. Internal consistency of reporting an evaluation of trends, and the identification of gaps, inconsistencies and outliers.
- 3. External consistency a comparison of routine data values to external data sources, such as population-based surveys.
- 4. Population estimates a review of denominator data used to calculate coverage rates.

The Desk Review incorporates findings (e.g. accuracy of reporting) from the DV/SA, which is considered a measure of internal consistency. The findings of the DQA are used to develop a Data Quality Improvement Plan.

The Desk Review plays an essential part in assessing the data in countries' routine health information systems in order to understand its strengths and limitations in advance of use of the data for monitoring, evaluation and planning. While the site assessment examines data at the source, the Desk Review examines data that are already aggregated and reported up through the information system. Once errors become aggregated into the country-level data they become harder to find. The desk review methods are designed to uncover these errors so that they can be corrected and the data improved for its various uses. While the Desk Review can, and should, be conducted routinely, it is an important complement to the site assessment since it adds to a comprehensive snapshot of data quality at a particular point in time.

Automated tools have been developed to facilitate the Desk Review analysis. Countries utilizing the District Health Information System Version 2 (DHIS2) can obtain results for Desk Review metrics by installing an application (i.e. app) on the local instance of DHIS2. Alternatively, a Desk Review analysis tool has been developed in MS Excel to facilitate the analysis in countries that do not have DHIS2. Data managers need only to extract the relevant data from the HMIS or programme databases and paste those data into the Excel tool. These guidelines will cover both these approaches to the Desk Review.

Indicators

The DQA is designed to assess data quality for routine health information systems holistically. It uses tracer indicators from up to five programme areas to judge data quality for the whole system. Tracer indicators are those that are indicative of data quality for all indicators in the health programme. WHO recommends the indicators and programmes in Table 1.

Table 1. Core indicators

Programme area	Indicator	Definition
Maternal health	Antenatal care 1 st visit (ANC1) coverage	Number and % of pregnant women who attended at least once during their pregnancy
Immunization	DTP3/Penta3 coverage	Number and % of children < 1 year receiving three doses of DTP/Penta vaccine
HIV	Currently on ART	Number and % of people living with HIV who are currently receiving ART
ТВ	TB notification rate	Number of new and relapse cases of TB that are notified per 100 000 population
Malaria	Confirmed malaria cases*	Confirmed malaria cases (microscopy or RDT) per 1000 persons per year

Note: ANC = antenatal care; ART = antiretroviral therapy; DTP3 = diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis three-dose vaccine; Penta = pentavalent vaccine; RDT = rapid diagnostic test; TB = tuberculosis.

*If the number of confirmed malaria cases is not collected, total malaria cases can be substituted.

While it is recommended that countries should assess the indicators from the core list, they may select other indicators or expand the set of indicators according to current needs and available resources. A full set of core and supplementary indicators is available in Annex 1 of the DQA framework document *Module 3 – Site assessment of data quality: data verification and system assessment*.¹

Tracer indicators these should be indicators that are indicative of data quality for the entire health programme. As such, they should not be the most difficult to collect and compile, nor the easiest. The selection of priority indicators is also often determined by suspicions of data quality problems, or the level of investment made to collect and report the data. All these factors should be weighed when selecting the appropriate indicator for each programme area.

Cross-cutting versus in-depth

The DQA provides information on up to five programme areas to give an overall view of data quality for the health system. For the DQA to remain practical as a facility assessment, the information requirements need kept to a manageable minimum for each heath programme. Not all information on data quality can be collected for all health programmes. In reality, health programmes often need more detail on data quality for programme management and planning than can be obtained by the cross-cutting DQA. In such cases, the DQA can be adapted to focus periodically on the broader information needs of a particular health programme. Such application of the DQA is referred to as "in-depth DQA" and is anticipated by the DQA framework. An in-depth DQA would be likely to feature 4–5 indicators from a given health programme, such as vaccinations for priority antigens with data on commodities tracking for the immunization programme, or the testing and treatment cascade for HIV/AIDS. In-depth assessments can be included every few years for a given health programme, depending on in-country needs.

See the DQA toolkit *Module 3 – Site assessment of data quality: data verification and system assessment* for more information on in-depth application of the DQA, and the table "Additional indicators" in Annex 1 of this document for a list of suggested additional indicators by programme area.

¹ Health statistics and information systems. Geneva: World Health Organization (website) (https://www.who.int/healthinfo/tools_data_analysis/en/, accessed 20 September 2020).

Chapter 2. Planning and coordination

Roles and responsibilities

The survey is usually undertaken under the overall leadership of the Ministry of Health. The following section briefly outlines the roles and responsibilities of the key parties involved in the implementation of the DQA and data quality activities.

Ministry of Health

The Ministry of Health will have overall responsibility for the coordination of this process. It will coordinate and provide support to obtain permission to conduct data collection activities, and will help with the coordination of analysis and results dissemination meetings by inviting all appropriate governmental departments and key nongovernmental and development partners. The Ministry of Health will also promote the use of these data for policy and planning.

Implementation agency

The implementation agency will be responsible for conducting field data collection for the DQA and the data verification component of the Data Quality Assurance. The implementation agency is often a unit within the Ministry of Health (e.g. Health Information Management Unit, Statistics Bureau, etc.) or a nongovernmental organization (NGO) with survey research experience.

Agency providing quality assurance and technical support

It is recommended that an independent party should be involved in the implementation process. This support can be provided by a separate national institute or independent consultant. He/she will be responsible for: providing support to the implementation team on planning and implementing DQA; providing a quality assurance role to ensure due processes are followed during training, data collection, cleaning and analyses (including validation visits in 5–10% of the facilities); and providing assistance and oversight to the implementing team on the production of the DQA and data quality assessment report.

DQA Coordinating Committee

Bringing country stakeholders together is a critical first step towards successful implementation of the DQA. One of the first activities is to identify and establish a group of core stakeholders at country level to oversee, coordinate and facilitate the planning and implementation of the DQA and the dissemination and use of the DQA findings.

The group should comprise technical focal points among health-sector stakeholders from government (including the different programme stakeholders), development partners and multinational organizations such as WHO, GAVI and the Global Fund. Monitoring and evaluation (M&E) technical working groups or health information system governance boards, which already exist in many countries, can serve as the DQA Coordinating Committee. Development and technical partners can greatly contribute to the success of efforts to improve data quality and should agree on a standardized set of data quality indicators.

The role of the DQA Coordinating Committee is:

- > to develop a harmonized plan for data quality assessments;
- > to identify technical support requirements for implementation and quality assurance;
- to identify funding sources;
- to oversee the selection of core indicators and the establishment of benchmarks;
- > to monitor implementation of the DQA;
- to ensure promotion and dissemination of the findings.

Partners

The Measurement and Accountability for Results in Health (MA4H) 5-point call to action recommends that partner investments in health information be fully aligned with a single country platform for information and accountability. Thus, development partners will probably be stakeholders in the DQA implementation and results. It is important to ensure that in-country partners are included in the decision-making process for planning and implementing the DQA. Additionally, partners can be a valuable source of technical assistance and other resources for survey implementation.

Other elements

Indicator selection

Indicators should be selected with care. Each programme indicator should be indicative of data quality for the whole programme since we are judging data quality for the programme on the basis of the results of the selected tracer indicator. As such, the indicator selected should not be the most difficult to compile and report monthly, or the easiest. Suspicions of data quality problems, or the level of investment in terms of time and resources for certain indicators, will often ultimately determine the selection of priority indicators for the assessment. Ensure that

all stakeholders have had a chance to give their views on the selection of indicators and that consensus is reached before finalizing the selection.

Timeline

The DQA is ideally conducted in advance of health-sector planning so that the results are available prior to the planning event. From planning to results dissemination, the total time required to conduct the full DQA (site assessment and the Desk Review) could be as long as six months. For the Desk Review, depending on the electronic data management platform in use in the country, the time required is only a few weeks. However, if technical assistance is required, consultants should be identified and the contractual details worked out well in advance. Anticipate delays and have plans, staff and resources in place to address problems quickly as they arise and resolve them.

In general, a time frame of about 1.5–2 weeks (8–10 person-days) is required for the acquisition and preparation of the data, and a further 1–1.5 weeks for the analysis and reporting. In total, about 20 person-days are required for the desk review. The level of effort may be more or less, depending on the number of indicators selected for review and the source and organization of the data.

Budget

A detailed budget should be developed well in advance of survey implementation. Identify funding sources early in the planning process and determine which aspects of the desk review will be funded by which organization so that problems do not arise during implementation. Budgets should be developed jointly with partners through a transparent process. Ensure compliance with local policies regarding the payment of stipends and/or per diem for survey implementers. Work out ahead of time how expenses should be reconciled against the budget. Involve, and budget for, finance personnel so that adequate accounting procedures are in place and are adhered to. A sample budget template can be found in Annex 2.

Independence

If feasible, the desk review should be conducted by an independent entity such as a national institute or consultant to help ensure unbiased evaluation of data quality. The desk review requires compilation of aggregate routine service delivery data for the relevant indicators in a specified format. This requires obtaining data from the HMIS and/or health programmes for the selected indicators. The national institute or consultant tasked with the desk review should work with the Ministry of Health focal points to acquire and prepare the data for the selected indicators.

Select the tool

The desk review is supported by automated tools to facilitate the analysis. For countries using DHIS2 there is an app that can be downloaded from the DHIS2 app store (WHO Data Quality Tool). For countries that do not use DHIS2 there is an MS Excel version of the tool. The preprogrammed analyses and outputs are the same in each tool; the principal difference is that data must be input into the Excel version, whereas the DHIS2 version accesses data tables that are already populated within the DHIS2 data structure. Another limitation to the Excel tool is that the granularity of the analysis is limited to the level for which data are input into the tool. For instance, if aggregate district-level data are input into the tool it is not then possible to "drill down" to facility-level results. This limitation is also true of the DHIS2 version in that the analyses are limited to the level for which data are entered; however, if the facility-level detail is entered into DHIS2 those details are available for drill-down even if the district is selected as the level of analysis. This is not the case in the Excel version - if facility-level detail is required, these data need to be input into the tool.

Gather the data

As the main purpose of the DQA is to examine the quality of health-facility data being used for planning, the data that should be analysed are the input data that are generally used for planning efforts (e.g. health sector reviews). In many countries health-facility data on key programme areas come mainly from the HMIS. In other countries, due to weak HMIS, there are parallel reporting systems for specific health programmes (e.g. immunization, HIV/AIDS, TB, etc.). Even in countries with strong HMIS, certain programmes persist in maintaining separate systems. The principal criterion for the selection of a particular data source is whether the data are used for planning purposes – i.e. which data source is used to measure progress towards objectives? For example, if the immunization programme does not rely on the HMIS data and uses only data collected and reported within the programme, the data for immunization indicators included in the DQA should come from the immunization programme.

If the HMIS data are what is used generally for planning and the DHIS2 platform is in use, the data need not be gathered since data are already available within the DHIS2. However, there are often multiple sources of data for each data element or indicator and the appropriate choice of data source must be made in order to show the results of the different data quality metrics most accurately. A knowledgeable HMIS staff member at national level should be consulted on the most appropriate data sources (i.e. data tables) for the desk review analysis.

Data requirements

The desk review requires monthly values by district (or other level of analysis chosen) for the most recent complete year for tracer indicators selected for the review. Annual aggregate values for the last three years are also required for these same indicators for the level selected. Other

data needs include denominator data for calculating coverage rates for these indicators and survey results from the most recent population-based survey such as the Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS), Demographic Health Surveys (DHS) and immunization coverage surveys. Denominator data include total number of expected pregnancies, total number of expected deliveries, total number of surviving infants, and total population. Information on completeness and timeliness of reporting is also required, either from HMIS if reporting is integrated, or from specific health programmes if reporting is programme-specific (e.g. number of reports received by district as against the number of reports expected, the number of these reports submitted by the deadline of reporting, etc.).



ക

Chapter 3. Configuring the tools for use

Installing and configuring the Desk Review DHIS2 Tool

From the DHIS2 home page for the local instance of DHIS2, navigate to the app store and select the WHO Data Quality tool. Once the app has downloaded a yellow "up arrow" will appear next to the app in the app manager. Click to "install" the app on the local instance. Once installed, the app should be available in the apps section of DHIS2 (Figure 1).



Figure 1. WHO Data Quality tool (DQA) app available in the apps repository of DHIS2

After the DQA app is installed it must be configured for the analysis. Configuration involves selecting the appropriate indicators for the various analyses, setting quality benchmarks, and selecting the different types of comparisons that will be made (Figure 2). A dashboard can also be set up to display automatically the results of analyses configured during the setup process. See the *WHO DQ App configuration guide* ¹ for a detailed discussion on how to configure the DHIS2 Data Quality app.

Configuring the DHIS2 DQA app requires detailed knowledge of the data structure for the local instance of DHIS2 in the country. There are often several data tables with information that can inform the data quality metrics – some more complete or appropriate than others. Indicators in the DHIS2 may be disaggregated by other variables (e.g. gender and age) and new indicators

¹ WHO Data Quality Tool for DHIS2. Geneva: World Health Organization (online) (https://www.dhis2.org/who-dq, accessed 20 September 2020).

may need to be created in order to evaluate the indicator holistically. Ensure that sufficient expertise is available to configure the DHIS2 DQA app sufficiently in advance of conducting the analysis to permit adequate time for the configuration.

Once the tool and dashboards are configured, they can be updated periodically with current data to show the changes in data quality over time. In fact, different users can configure their own dashboards for whatever level or region they desire. The tool can serve as a powerful source of routine information on data quality for programme and data managers throughout the health sector and at different levels.

Figure 2. Configure the WHO Data Quality tool for analysis – administration page

Data Quality Too	D Dashboard Analysis - Annual R	eport	About More -		
Administration					
his module is used for con sed as the basis for the Ar	figuring the Data Quality Tool, and mapping the nual Report, and the numerator and numerato	e propos r group	ed data quality indicators to data eler configuration is also used for the Dasi	nents and indicators in the DHIS 2 database. This con hboard.	figuration is
Numerators Numera	tor groups Numerator relations Num	erator q	uality parameters Denominators	Denominator relations External data compar	ison
lease map the reference r	umerators to the corresponding data element/	ndicator	in this database.		
Group	Reference numerator	Core	Data element/indicator	Dataset	
General Service Statistics	OPD visits		OPD Consultation	Hospital Outpatient Morbidity and Mortality - HF1	Edit Clear
HIV/Aids	PLHIV in HIV care	-			Edit Clear
HIV/Aids	PLHIV on ART				Edit Clear
HIV/Aids	Pregnant women on ART (PMTCT)				Edit Clear
HV/Aids	Retained on ART 12 months after initiation				Edit Clear
HIV/Aids	Virally supressed ART-clients				Edit Clear
mmunization	DPT 1				Edit Clear
mmunization	DPT 2				Edit Clear
			Destauralizat 2nd days		

Configuring the Desk Review Excel tool

Configure Tool tab

On the **Configure Tool** tab, indicate the number of primary indicators for which you will enter and analyse data (1–6 indicators). The appropriate number of data entry tabs will then be made available (Figure 3).

Indicate which domains and metrics you will use in your analysis by using the drop-down menus to select "yes" or "no".

Click on the **Configure Tool** button at the bottom of the page to update the workbook using macros. The tool should now reflect the content you selected.



Figure 3. Desk Review Excel tool – Configure Tool tab

Configure the Des (Select the element	SK Review Excel Tool for l ts you plan to use for the analysis.)	Jse
Indicate the number of primary indicator Number of indicators:	rs to evaluate	
Indicate which domains and metrics to e	valuate	
Domain 1: Completeness and Consistend	cy of Reporting/Indicator Data	Yes
1 - Completeness and Timliness of Aggregation Levels: District	Reporting from Health Facilities and	yes
1b - Completeness of Indicator Rep zero values; % of data elements that	orting: % of data elements that are at are non-missing values	non- Yes
1c - Consistency of reporting compl	leteness:	Yes
Domain 2: Internal consistency of report	ed data	Yes
2a1: Exreme outliers relative to the	e mean (+/- 3 SD)	Yes
2a2: Moderate outliers relative to t	he mean (+/- 2-3 SD)	Yes
2a3: Outliers relative to the mediar	n	Yes
2b - Consistency over time:		Yes
2c - Consistency between related in	ndicators	Yes
Domain 3: External comparison		Yes
Domain 4: Consistency of population dat	a	Yes
4a - Consistency of population proj	ections	Yes
4b - Consistency of population estin population data (e.g NBS and Hea	mates from different sources of alth Programs)	Yes
с	lick here to configure the tool	

13

38 4 2 8

<mark>ع</mark>

G

Input Basic Info tab

On the tab **Input_basic_info**, provide the basic assessment information requested using the drop-down lists provided (Figure 4). The information informs the tool about the parameters of the analysis, such as the year, country, data flow model and periodicity of reporting. The information required includes:

Step 1. Select Country: The country selected will automatically be included in dashboards of results, as well as being used to calculate the United Nations population projection for live births.

Step 2. Select Year: This is the year of analysis, the year for which data will be obtained and analysed.

Step 3. Complete the data flow model for the Country HMIS (or Programme, depending on the scope of the DQA). Include all levels of the reporting system where data are collected, aggregated and forwarded to the next higher level. The last box should indicate the national level.

Step 4. Select the level of the reporting system for which you are conducting your analysis – i.e. the level for which metrics are calculated and compared. This is usually the level for which data are input, such as the district level.

Figure 4. Configuring the Desk Review Excel tool – Input Basic Info tab

H	د	・ C ⁺ = WHO_DQR Desk Review Tool_July 2020_example data.utsm - Excel
		Home Insert Page Layout Formulas Data Review View Developer ACROBAT 🖗 Tell me what you want to do
1		
	A	8 C D E F G H I J K
		INPUT BASIC INFORMATION FOR THE REPORTING SYSTEM AND PARAMETERS OF THE ANALYSIS
	0	Please input some basic information resulted for your data quality analysis
L	-	
	1	Please select your country of interest Benin
		(If your country is not on the list, please hit the "Delete" button and leave the cell blank)
-	2	Please select year of interest for data analysis 2019
		(If your reporting year starts at some other month besides January, i.e. June, please select the year in which the last
		month of reporting tails)
	3	Country RHS/Programme data flow model: Reporting levek/aggregation levels in country
		(If the next reporting level is national, please leave it blank)
1	4	For what administrative unit level are you conducting your analysis? District
		(NB: Analysis cannot be conducted at the facility level. Please also ensure that you have population denominators for
		the administrative level of analysis. You can input data for lower levels, but for the Data Quality Review metrics adjusted with coal the data was associated to the adjustrative law is calculated in a particular to a participation of the data of
		Canceles on one cost, pe data are aggregated to one summou sover rever services on amanysis. The sample, you can Input facility level service output data but the analysis will only be done for higher administrative level, such as, a
		district)
	5	What is the periodicity of reporting for the administrative level for which you are conducting the analysis? Monthly
	6	What is the periodicity of reporting from health facilities? Monthly
		District
	7	What is the periodicity of reporting from aggregation levels (e.g. the district, region)? Monthly
	8	For what administrative level will you be inputting service output data? District
-	0	Let the final of surrantice for the most second providel contract of the most second s
	_	where is the reversion approximation that the most reverse population reason and egit
	10	Please enter the first period (e.g. month, quarter) of the reporting year, starting from the period that marks the start of the sense the sum of period
		or the reporting year in your country If the reporting th
_		(ror example, in many countries are reporting year to nom xiny to xune, for, in can be one carendar year rannoe)
-		Reporting from health for String to promoting health in all interpreted or 20 program are 25-2
_	11	Reporting from nearth isolities to aggregation levels is : 3) integrated, or 2) program-specific? Integrated
1		
		Title Instructions Configure tool Input_basic_info Input_admin_units Survey_mapping Program Areas and Indicators Quality Thresholds 🔶 :

Step 5. Select the periodicity (i.e. how often the data are reported) for the level of analysis selected. This selection will configure the indicator data entry pages for the periodicity selected. Remember to select the first period of the reporting year (input 10). The selection of the periodicity of reporting for the level of analysis will populate the drop down list in input 10.

Step 6. Input the periodicity of reporting from health facilities. This is used in the evaluation of reporting performance from facilities (Domain 1 – Completeness and timeliness of reporting).

Step 7. Input the periodicity of reporting from the first level of aggregation (usually the district). This is used in the evaluation of reporting performance from the first level of aggregation (Domain 1 – Completeness and timeliness of reporting).

Step 8. Input the level of the reporting system for which you are inputting data on service output. These are the indicator values by month or quarter. These data can be for facility level (only rarely in the event that facility-level data are entered into the computer), or district level or regional level, depending on what aggregate level data are available at national level.

Step 9. Input the level of the most recent population-based survey. In Domain 3 – External comparison – routinely reported data values will be compared with survey values. The routine data will need to be aggregated to the level of the survey (typically the regional level) so that the values are comparable.

Step 10. Enter the first period of the year of analysis. Depending on the periodicity of reporting from the level selected for analysis (in Step 5 above) the drop-down list will provide the range of options. Select the first period (e.g. 1st quarter, the month of January etc.) from the drop-down list.

Step 11. Enter the nature of facility reporting, either integrated (e.g. on the monthly form of HMIS) or programme-specific. Integrated reporting means the results from different health programmes are all reported on the same form, and only that form is forwarded to the next level to satisfy reporting requirements for all health programmes. Programme-specific reporting means that health programmes report to the next level separately, each programme using its own set of reporting forms.

If reporting from health facilities is only partially integrated, selecting the type of reporting on the **Input_basic_info** tab will only hide or reveal the areas of programme-specific reporting data entry and results. The integrated reporting tab and result areas will always be available for information to be entered for HMIS reporting in general.

Select Program Areas and Indicators

The DQA has a standard set of indicators that are intended to provide a cross-cutting assessment of data quality across programme areas (Figure 5). However, the DQA is designed to accommodate any programme areas and indicators. On the **Program Areas and Indicators** tab, select programme areas and their associated indicators using the drop-down lists provided. One primary indicator should be selected for each programme area. The primary indicator is listed as #1 in the two spaces provided for each program area. The secondary indicator (#2) is used only for the Internal Consistency metric "Comparison between related indicators".

Figure 5. Configuring the Desk Review Excel tool – Selecting Program Areas and Indicators



Drop-down lists for programme areas and indicators include the standard indicators for the recommended implementation of the DQA as well as a supplementary list of alternative indicators for each programme area. Information on the core and alternative indicators can be found in the *DQA Technical guide* (Module 3: Review of data quality through a health facility survey; Annex 1 – Recommended indicators).

It is also possible to include user-defined programme areas and indicators by selecting "Other_ specify" from the drop-down list. Another field will appear in which the user-defined programme area and/or indicator can be entered. Once entered, the programme area and indicator names auto-populate the dashboards of results in the DQA.

Finally, a section is included for selecting the indicator type – either cumulative or current. A cumulative indicator is one for which monthly values are added to the previous month's value to derive a running total (e.g. number counselled and tested for HIV). A current indictor is one where the current month's value updates or replaces the previous month's value (e.g. current on ART where "lost", "stopped", "transferred out" or "died" are all subtracted from the total, new

ക

patients are added, and those counted this month were most likely also counted last month). The default value is cumulative since most indicators are cumulative.

Review and/or edit Data Quality Thresholds

To judge the quality of data using the metrics in the DQA, it is necessary to define benchmarks of quality with which to compare the results. WHO has recommended thresholds for each metric which can be found on the **Quality Thresholds** tab (Figure 6). Global standards are often not relevant in a given country if the information system is immature or is undergoing reform. In cases where the recommended thresholds are inappropriate, user-defined thresholds can be supplied by entering the values in column 2 of the **Quality Thresholds** tab which will override the recommended thresholds.

Threshold Quality Thresholds: 'Quality thresholds' are the values that set the limits of acceptable error in data reporting. The analyses in the DQR compare results to these thresholds to judge the quality of the data. Recommended values are included for each metric in column 1. User-defined thresholds can be input into col 2 which will take precedence over the values in col 1. Recommended User-defined Domain 1: Completeness and Consistency of Reporting/Indicator Data Col 1 Col 2 **Metrics** <u>**1**</u> Completeness and Timliness of Reporting from Health Facilities and Aggregation Levels: District 90% 1a1a Completeness of District Level Reporting 90% 1a1b Timeliness of District Level Reporting 1a2a Completeness of Health Facility Level Reporting 90% 1a2b Timeliness of Health Facility Level Reporting 90% 1b Completeness of Indicator Reporting: % of data elements that are non-zero values; % of data elements that are non-missing values Program Area 1: Maternal Health 90% 1b1 Indicator 1: ANC 1st Visit Program Area 2: Immunization 90% 1b2 Indicator 1: 3rd dose DPT-containing vaccine Program Area 3: HIV_AIDS 1b3 Indicator 1: HIV Coverage 90% <u>1c</u> <u>Consistency of reporting completeness:</u> 1c1 Consistency of Facility reporting completeness 10% 1c2 Consistency of District reporting completeness 10%

Figure 6. Configuring the Desk Review Excel tool – set Data Quality thresholds

Inputting data into the Excel tool

Completeness and timeliness of reporting

Input data on reporting completeness (integrated reporting)

On the **Input_reports_received** tab, enter the information required on completeness and timeliness of reporting from subnational units (Figure 7). Depending on the data-flow model input in the **Basic Information** tab, you will need to enter data on the number of reports received for each level, and historically (3 previous years). Also required is information on the number of reports received by the deadline for reporting for the year of analysis. Ensure that you select the appropriate periodicity of reporting on the **Basic Information** tab for facility reporting and from the next higher level (#7) so that the DQA tool will know the number of expected reports in the calculation of completeness of reporting.

A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J.	К	L	MI	N	0	P	Q	R	S 1
	ļ																	
	Completer Received	nes	s of HM	IS Repo	orting: I	nput Rep	00	rts		Reporting	Frequency	Facility : District		Monthly				
7 Table 10: This worksheet requires you to fill in information on the total number of reports received for your unit of analysis as well as for facilities within the unit of analysis to calculate the completeness rate. Please use "Paste special" and paste only <u>values</u> when you are copying and pasting information. Columns 1 and 2 are automatically populated for you based on information you entered in previous worksheets. Data can only be typed/pasted into columns that are in green. Columns in white are write-protected. Further details on data entry for each column can be found in the "Data Quality Review tool" document, section on "instructions for data preparation".																		
2 Col	1 Col 2	T														-		
3			Total HFs	providing s	ervices in t	he district		Total num	ber of facilit the dist	ty reports r rict level	eceived at	Number received on time (year	-	Total num	per of distri the	ct reports r evel	eceived at	Number received on time (year
5 Nº	District		2013	2014	2015	2016		2013	2014	2015	2016	of analysis)		2013	2014	2015	2016	of analysis)
	Overall Total		7,048	7,107	7,175	7,431		73,807	77,323	81,288	85,662	76,793		515	549	557	562	505
11	1 District 1		197	197	197	202		1,674	1,851	2,016	2,272	2,209		12	12	12	12	12
2	2 District 2		136	136	146								_					
5 X		-			145	147		1,315	1,422	1,539	1,699	1,622		10	11	11	12	10
2	B District B	1	177	177	145	147		1,315	1,422	1,539 1,758	1,699 1,945	1,622 1,400		10	11	11	12 12	10
	3 District 3 4 District 4		177 96	177 96	145	147 177 99		1,315 1,516 930	1,422 1,611 957	1,539 1,758 958	1,699 1,945 1,130	1,622 1,400 1,045		10 11 12	11 11 11	11 11 12	12 12 12	10 11 11
	3 District 3 4 District 4 5 District 5		177 96 123	177 96 123	143 177 96 123	147 177 99 125		1,315 1,516 930 1,177	1,422 1,611 957 1,205	1,539 1,758 958 1,397	1,699 1,945 1,130 1,420	1,622 1,400 1,045 1,363		10 11 12 10	11 11 11 11	11 11 12 12	12 12 12 12	10 11 11 9
	3 District 3 4 District 4 5 District 5 5 District 6		177 96 123 127	177 96 123 126	143 177 96 123 127	147 177 99 125 129		1,315 1,516 930 1,177 1,301	1,422 1,611 957 1,205 1,291	1,539 1,758 958 1,397 1,370	1,699 1,945 1,130 1,420 1,525	1,622 1,400 1,045 1,363 1,380		10 11 12 10 12	11 11 11 11 11	11 11 12 12 12	12 12 12 12 12 12	10 11 11 9 11
	3 District 3 4 District 4 5 District 5 5 District 6 7 District 7		177 96 123 127 74	177 96 123 126 74	143 177 96 123 127 79	147 177 99 125 129 81		1,315 1,516 930 1,177 1,301 854	1,422 1,611 957 1,205 1,291 979	1,539 1,758 958 1,397 1,370 918	1,699 1,945 1,130 1,420 1,525 995	1,622 1,400 1,045 1,363 1,380 810		10 11 12 10 12 11	11 11 11 11 11 11	11 11 12 12 12 12 12	12 12 12 12 12 12 12	10 11 11 9 11 8
0 4 1 5 2 6 3 7 4 8	3 District 3 4 District 4 5 District 5 5 District 6 7 District 7 8 District 8		177 96 123 127 74 187	177 96 123 126 74 199	143 177 96 123 127 79 205	147 177 99 125 129 81 216		1,315 1,516 930 1,177 1,301 854 2,109	1,422 1,611 957 1,205 1,291 979 2,359	1,539 1,758 958 1,397 1,370 918 2,453	1,699 1,945 1,130 1,420 1,525 995 2,694	1,622 1,400 1,045 1,363 1,380 810 2,665		10 11 12 10 12 11 11	11 11 11 11 11 11 11 12	11 11 12 12 12 12 12 12 12	12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12	10 11 11 9 11 8 12

Figure 7. Inputting data into the Excel tool – information on completeness and timeliness of reporting

Input data on reporting completeness (programme-specific reporting)

If **Program-specific** is selected in question #11 on the **Input_basic_info** tab, a different tab appears for entering information on programme-specific reporting (**Input_reports_program specific**). Specifications for the data flow model, frequency of reporting and data quality thresholds must be entered in the appropriate cells for each health programme under review (Figures 8 and 9).

Figure 8. Programme-specific data flow and frequency or reporting

	_		Data	Flow by Progam	Area		Frequncy of rep	orting by Program	Area and Level
Program Area			1st level of aggregation	2nd level of aggregation	3rd level of aggregation		Facility to 1st level of aggregation	1st to 2nd level of aggregation	2nd to 3rd level of aggregation
Maternal_Health	1		District				Monthly		
Immunization		↑	District			1	Monthly		
HIV_AIDS		≥	District			£.	Monthly		
Malaria		iii	District			cili	Monthly		
ТВ		<u>ت</u>	Region			E	Quarterly		
Multi-program			District				Monthly		

Figure 9. Programme-specific quality thresholds for completeness and timeliness of reporting

Quality Thresholds (enter % value)	Facility to of aggr	o 1st level egation	1st to 2n aggre	d level of gation
Completeness	Default	User defined	Default	User defined
Maternal_Health	90%		90%	
Immunization	90%	100%	90%	
HIV_AIDS	90%		90%	
-	90%		90%	
-	90%		90%	
-	90%		90%	

Quality Thresholds (enter % value)	Facility to of aggre	o 1st level egation	1st to 2n aggree	d level of gation
Timeliness	Default	User defined	Default	User defined
Maternal_Health	90%		90%	
Immunization	90%		90%	
HIV_AIDS	90%		90%	
-	90%		90%	
-	90%		90%	
-	90%		90%	

Input population data

The desk review evaluates the adequacy of population data (i.e. denominators) used to calculate coverage rates for performance monitoring in Domain 4 – Consistency of population data. Denominator data are also required to compute rates for comparisons of routine data to population-based survey data (Domain 3 – External consistency). There are two tabs in which input of population data is required, one for each domain. On the tab **Input_Standard_ Populations** (Figure 10), enter the populations from a primary source of population data (e.g. official source of government statistics, such as the National Statistics Bureau) by the level selected for analysis (e.g. district) for live births, expected pregnancies, and children < 1 year of age (columns F–H). These denominators will be compared to the same populations used by an alternative source of population data by the level selected for analysis into the appropriate cells (columns I–K).

19

Figure 10. Inputting data into the Excel tool – standard populations (Domain 4 comparisons)

	Standard Popu by Adminis	lation Estimates trative Unit		Table 9: This workshe analysis. Please use are automatically po into columns that are	eet requires you to typ "Paste special" and p pulated for you based in green. Columns in	e/paste population es aste only values wher on information you e white are write-prote	timates from two diff n you are copying and entered in previous wo ected.	erent data sources for pasting information. rksheets. Data can or	the year of Columns 1 and 2 Ny be typed/pasted	
			11		Denominators	for Domain 4 Evalua	ation (select using d	lropdown lists)		
Reporting Structure				Po (e.g., National I	opulation Data Source Bureau of Statistics (N	1 BS] estimates)	Pc (e.g.,	opulation Data Source health program estim	2 ates)	
					NBS		M	Maternal and Child Health		
	Aggrega	tion level		Live births	Expected pregnancies	Children < 1 yr	Live births	Expected pregnancies	Children < 1 yr	
	Selected									
N⁰	District	National		2017	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017	
	Overall Total			1,529,616	1,528,273	1,464,633	1,598,039	1,602,954	1,359,815	
1	District 1	Region 1	ſ	25,029	25,029	24,178	25,029	25,029	18,778	
2	District 2	Region 1		33,483	33,483	32,344	33,483	33,483	23,798	
3	District 3	Region 2		59,852	59,852	57,458	80,000	59,852	56,001	
4	District 4	Region 2		31,930	31,930	30,653	31,930	60,000	28,139	
5	District 5	Region 1		17,825	17,825	17,219	17,825	17,825	14,810	
6	District 6	Region 3		14,708	14,708	14,178	14,708	14,708	13,244	
7	District 7	Region 4		25,532	24,188	22,173	25,532	50,000	19,303	
8	District 8	Region 5		45,131	45,131	42,874	45,131	45,131	39,387	
9	District 9	Region 3		5,108	5,108	4,925	5,108	5,108	6,030	
10	District 10	Region 1		32,141	32,141	31,048	32,141	32,141	29,340	

For comparing routine reporting results to the results of population-based surveys (or other external data sources evaluating coverage using population-based rates), enter the standard populations by level selected for analysis on the tab **Input_Indicator_Populations**. These are the populations used to calculate rates for routine values that will be compared to survey values. As such, these values should be specific to the indicator and the year of the analogous survey value (Figure 11).

Figure 11. Inputting data into the Excel tool – indicator populations (Domain 3 comparisons)

Population estimates for calculating coverage from routine data Table 9: This worksheet requires you to type/paste indicator-appropriate denominators for the year of analysis. Please use "Paste special" and paste only values when you are copying and pasting information. Columns 1 and 2 are automatically populated for you based on information you entered in previous worksheets. Data can only be typed/pasted into columns that are in green. Columns in white are write-protected.

			·		
	Reporting St	ructure	Program Area 1	Program Area 2	Program Area 3
	,		Maternal_Health	Immunization	HIV_AIDS
	A	Hen lovel	ANC 1st Visit	3rd dose DPT-containing vaccine	HIV Coverage
	Aggregation level selected for analysis		Choose survey year below:	Choose survey year below:	Choose survey year below:
Nº	District Region		2019	2019	2019
	Overall Total		1,408,049	1,348,426	1,251,594
1	District 1	Region 1	22,510	21,745	16,888
2	District 2	Region 1	30,941	29,889	21,992
3	District 3	Region 2	56,821	54,548	53,165
4	District 4	Region 2	30,313	29,100	26,714
5	District 5	Region 1	16,011	15,467	13,303
6	District 6	Region 3	14,264	13,750	12,844
7	District 7	Region 4	22,551	19,584	17,050
8	District 8	Region 5	42,264	40,151	36,886
9	District 9	Region 3	4,953	4,775	5,847
10	District 10	Region 1	28,870	27,889	26,355
11	District 11	Region 2	66,964	64,286	62,617
12	District 12	Region 1	29,087	28,098	21,980

ુ દુ

Input data on trends

To evaluate "Internal consistency – Consistency of indicator data over time2 (Domain 2), enter annual values for the level selected for analysis for the DQA primary indicators (selected on the **Program Areas and Indicators** tab). Annual values for the indicators are required for the three years prior to the analysis year. The annual values for the previous years should be pasted into the appropriate columns for each of the indicators, while the values for the year of analysis are aggregated automatically by the DQA tool once the monthly values have been input into the indicator data tabs (e.g. **Input_PA1_Ind1**) (Figure 12).

1	A	В	с	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L	М	N	0	Р	Q .	
2 3		Input Service	e Output:	s for Tre	end Ana	lysis for Se	lected Ind	icators	Table 8: Please paste your annual service data for selected indicators for up to the three years preceding									
5			22				Maternal_Health				Immun	ization		HIV_AIDS				
6	Col 1	Col 1 Col 2 Col 3 Col 4 Col 5				ANC 1st Visit				3rd	dose DPT-co	ntaining vacci	ne	Number of HIV+ persons in palliative care				
7	No.	District	National			2013	2014	2015	2016	2013	2014	2015	2016	2013	2014	2015	2016	
8		Overall Total				1,196,237	1,265,317	1,271,562	1,287,838	1,122,786	1,187,804	1,173,759	1,191,422	790,674	840,092	973,144	988,3	
9	1	District 1				15,418	16,513	17,490	18,611	15,314	15,725	16,348	16,407	2,442	2,595	2,839	3,1	
10	2	District 2				22,232	24,308	21,848	24,680	20,233	22,437	21,753	22,122	8,618	9,156	10,018	10,	
11	3	District 3				50,049	49,693	50,221	42,528	46,066	49,567	47,483	40,166	16,278	17,295	18,923	20,:	
12	4	District 4				27,300	25,472	25,415	25,867	24,485	25,720	72,556	73,433	24,627	26,166	28,629	30,	
13	5	District 5				12,429	13,250	13,364	13,231	12,071	13,379	13,215	11,858	1,917	2,037	2,228	2,:	
14	6	District 6				12,402	12,830	12,489	13,037	11,631	11,912	11,897	12,049	6,102	6,483	7,093	7,1	
15	7	District 7				12,787	15,503	14,856	16,732	13,200	16,792	15,190	16,747	950	1,009	1,104	1,	
16	8	District 8				33,177	33,052	34,052	34,225	32,227	32,461	31,409	32,185	74,437	79,089	86,533	93,1	
17	9	District 9				5,933	6,184	6,413	6,651	5,133	5,225	5,305	5,342	1,646	1,748	1,913	2,1	
18	10	District 10				26,633	30,223	30,456	32,613	23,221	28,116	28,286	30,782	8,348	8,870	9,705	10,4	
19	11	District 11				56,940	55,850	55,391	53,110	57,065	58,360	54,725	53,079	29,561	31,408	34,364	36,	
20	12	District 12				23,705	22,971	22,290	22,757	20,512	22,124	21,134	21,424	12,795	13,595	14,874	15,	
21	13	District 13				49,843	55,313	60,894	62,995	41,579	45,027	49,379	53,618	26,316	27,961	30,592	32,1	
22	14	District 14				45,016	48,626	46,610	43,397	41,278	43,231	40,996	39,865	16,171	17,182	18,799	20,	
23	15	District 15				10,474	11,383	11,571	11,663	10,818	10,923	11,315	11,497	7,586	8,061	8,819	9,	
24	16	District 16				31,783	32,538	36,249	32,808	33,561	34,856	33,420	32,822	20,710	22,004	24,075	25,1	
25	17	District 17				34,948	34,304	34,335	34,301	29,713	30,781	30,288	31,816	73,545	78,141	85,496	91,	
	F H	Input Standard Popula	tions Ing	ut Indicator	Populations	External Data	Sources Inp	ut trend data	Input PA1 Inc	1 Input PAI							> []	

Figure 12. Inputting data into the Excel tool – input annual data values to evaluate trends

Input indicator data

Paste monthly (or quarterly) data by the level selected for analysis into the indicator data tabs (Figure 13). The indicator names should appear automatically at the top of each of the indicator data tabs once the indicators are selected on the **Program Areas and Indicators** tab. The indicator data tabs are named according to the following logic: PA1 is **Program Area #1**, while Ind1 is the primary indicator for the program area. Each programme area selected on the Program Areas and Indicator. The primary indicators tab has two indicators – a primary and a secondary indicator. The primary indicator for which DQA metrics are calculated. The secondary indicator is only used for the **Domain 2 – Internal consistency** evaluation of the consistency between related indicators. Furthermore, PA2 is **Program Area #2**, which has Ind1 and Ind2, and so on.

	B put: Mater	c nal_Health	D - ANC 1s	E t Visit	6	н	1	J	К	L	M	N	0	P = moderate	Q e outlier	R	S = extreme or	T
t in v	rease pour monitory service una concessions and reasonable una or analysis. Summins 2-3 are advantatically populated for you based on intormation you entered in previous worksheets. Data can only be type/gas											ed into columns	inat are in g					
Col	ol 1 Col 2 Col 3 Col 4 Col 5 Columns 6 - 17: Monthly 'ANC 1st Visit' Data									ee is	Col 18	Col 19						
7 <u>No</u>	>. District	National			January	February	March	April	Мау	June	ylut	August	September	October	November	December	DQR Year Value: aggregate for 'cannalative' indicators; final period value for 'current' indicators	Total # Monthly Missing Values for District Level Data
3	Total				120,112	116,461	111,416	102,960	112,419	111,659	107,490	108,695	108,902	107,939	108,250	84,700	1,301,003	
)	1 District 1				2,000	1,400	1,600	1,543	1,619	1,450	1,510	1,500	1,500	1,502	1,587	1,400	18,611	
0	2 District 2				2,140	2,200	2,183	1,970	2,019	2,311	2,048	2,613	1,867	1,866	1,788	1,675	24,680	
1	3 District 3				4,197	4,491	4,101	3,862	4,281	4,024	3,910		4,140	3,855	3,486	3,522	43,869	
2	4 District 4				2,699	2,408	2,212	2,103	2,279	2,373	2,227	2,213	2,197	1,726	2,328	2,311	27,076	
3	5 District 5				1,262	1,334	1,168	1,035	1,133	1,147	1,177	1,230	1,103	932	1,017	1,087	13,625	
4	6 District 6				1,167	1,138	1,167	1,024	1,208	1,086	1,156	1,135	1,096	1,054	1,010	998	13,239	
5	7 District 7				1,507	1,555	1,398	1,180	1,320	1,177	1,397	1,673	1,503	1,527	1,505	1,211	16,953	
6	8 District 8				3,314	3,227	3,077	2,718	3,099	3,044	2,782	2,900	2,619	2,621	2,898	1,926	34,225	
7	9 District 9				685	574	608	560	724	509	529	544	554	530	495	541	6,853	
8 1	10 District 10				2,989	2,885	2,732	2,686	2,701	2,858	2,902	2,903	2,596	2,808	2,687	2,611	33,358	1
9 1	11 District 11				4,906	5,083	4,673	4,271	4,823	5,494	4,236	4,323	4,019	4,236	4,391	4,201	54,656	
0 1	12 District 12				1,971	2,032	2,030	1,881	2,040	2,275	1,964	2,031	1,915	1,772	1,762	1,633	23,306	
1 1	13 District 13				5,780	5,464	5,373	5,106	5,739	5,180	5,086	5,398	5,440	5,388	5,384	5,311	64,649	
2 1	14 District 14				····4,805	4,077	3,659	3,528	3,389	3,519	3,461	3,646	3,103	3,602	4,147	4,733	45,169	
3 1	15 District 15				1,121	989	989	936	1,055	974	965	1,069	999	954	955	1,008	12,014	
4 1	16 District 16			1	2,823	3,022	2,833	2,825	2,940	2,851	2,733	2,936	2,789	2,594	2,700	2,685	33,732	
5 1	17 District 17	Indi Inci	DAL Ind	Innet DAD In	3 261	3 310	2073	2013	2 026	2.761	2716	3.004	2 706	2 000	2 004	1	24 201	

Figure 13. Inputting data into the Excel tool – input indicator data

It is important to ensure that the periodicity of reporting for the level of analysis is indicated in #5 on the **Basic Information** tab. This selection will configure the Indicator Data tabs for 12 columns for monthly reporting, and four columns for quarterly reporting.

In Domain 2 – Internal consistency of reported data – extreme and moderate subnational unit values are identified for monthly (or quarterly) reporting. These values are highlighted on the **Input Indicator Data** tabs by colour coding as follows: outliers are noted by a stippled pattern, with grey shading for moderate outliers and pink shading for extreme outliers (Figure 14). These values are summarized and the subnational units where they occur are identified in the summary tabs for Domain 2.

Figure 14. Colour coding of outliers on data input tabs





Chapter 4. Conducting the desk review analysis

Overview of analysis with DHIS2 data quality app

Dashboards

After the DQ tool is launched, you will see the five tabs at the top of the page. These are used to select between different functionalities. Notice that the word "Dashboard" is highlighted and the dashboard function is selected by default (Figure 15). The dashboard has its own set of four tabs. The Completeness tab is selected by default.

Figure 15. DHIS2 Data Quality App – menus

(Data Quality Tool	Dashboard Ar	nalysis -	Annual Report	About	More-				
1	Dashboard									
	Completeness			Consistency - time			Consistency - data		Outliers	

Other tabs include:

- Analysis allows you to perform ad hoc analyses for any indicators in the DHIS2.
- Annual Report provides a snapshot of all desk review metrics at a given point in time.
- About provides information about the app.
- More takes you to the:
 - Administration page allows you to configure priority indicators for the dashboard.
 - User Guide provides a link to the User Guide from DHIS2.
 - Feedback sends you to a page where you can email DHIS2 developers and provide feedback on the use of the tool.
 - Data Export for Excel tool a tool for downloading data from the DHIS2 by period and subnational unit for inputting into the Desk Review Excel tool.

Completeness and timeliness of reporting

On the **Completeness and Timeliness** dashboard (Figure 16), the graphs on the left show, for each priority data set (designated as such in the **Administration** tab), the completeness and timeliness by month for each of the last 12 months. The graphs on the right show, for each dataset, the completeness by region for the last month of the period being analysed.

Completeness for the most recent month is another way to look at the timeliness of reporting. It is often also revealing to show completeness for the month prior to the last. Click on the menu icon in the upper right of the screen to show a menu on the right of the screen.



Figure 16. WHO Data Quality tool dashboard

The reporting period that is charted can be changed by clicking on a different month. By default, the DQ tool analyses all data nationwide, disaggregated by region. In the "Organisation unit" section of the menu at the right, "National" is highlighted. The DQ tool can also be used at district level with data disaggregated by individual health facility.

In the "Organisaton unit" section of the menu, you can click on and select different districts within regions (Figure 17). The graphs on the left side of the Completeness page will change to show the 12-month trend in the reporting completeness of the selected district.

By default, the graphs on the right side of the Completeness page show results disaggregated for one level below. If the district is selected, the bars on the graphs would then represent facilities.

Figure 17. Selecting districts



Consistency over time

The **Consistency over time** dashboard (Figure 18) shows (on the left side) the trend in data elements (configured and selected as "core" data elements in the **Administration** tab) over the course of the selected year and the two previous years. Each of the three years is depicted as a trend line. Each graph on the right is an example of a scatterplot. When the tool is set to "Disaggregated by district", each dot represents the value for a single district. On this chart, the position of the dot on the vertical axis represents the value of the numerator for the month selected. The position of the dot on the horizontal axis is the average value in the same district over the 11 previous months. Dots that appear below the lower grey line or above the upper grey line are districts which surpass the pre-set value for quality – i.e. they represent departures from consistency for the data element and constitute a potential data quality problem.



Figure 18. DHIS2 Data Quality tool – Consistency over time

To change data elements, organizational units, or the period using the menu on the right-hand side, click on the triangles in the scatterplot to obtain the values of the ratio of the current month to the average of the preceding eleven months for the subnational unit selected. The cursor can also be used to select the trend lines on the graphic on the left in order to view values for the data element at different times during the year, and for all three years.

Consistency between related indicators

Indicators which have a predictable relationship are examined to determine whether, in fact, the expected relationship exists between those indicators. In other words, the consistency process examines whether the observed relationship between indicators, as depicted in the reported data, is that which is expected.

25

The **Consistency – Data** tab on the DHIS2 Data Quality tool dashboard (Figure 19) shows different graphics for different types of relationships. For a relationship in which the indicator values are expected to be more or less the same (e.g. malaria cases treated and malaria positive tests) a scatterplot depicts the relationship. In fact, for most indicator relationships (equal, or one larger or smaller than the other) a scatterplot is used. For the special case of a drop-out rate, a negative bar chart is used. A negative bar chart is a chart that can range positive or negative in relation to zero on the y-axis. The drop-out rate measures the percentage of people who started a public health service without finishing it. That is, it measures the loss of clients over time for a process such as immunization with an antigen given in a series (e.g. DTP 1–3). A drop-out rate should never be less than zero (although it sometimes is) and is indicative of a data quality problem. In the DTP example, a negative drop-out rate would mean that more children were immunized with the third dose of DTP than with the first dose.

These "numerator relations" are configured using the **Administration–Numerator** relations in the **More** section of the Data Quality tool. Each dot on the scatterplot represents the total values over the last 12 months for one district. Districts with values that fall outside the grey threshold lines are represented by a diamond shape. The placement on the graph of the district values of the ratio are relative to the result at national level. The national ratio shown by the solid grey line. If the ratio of the district value to the national value exceeds a predetermined threshold, the district should be reviewed further to determine whether data quality problems are to blame.

Again, one can change data elements, organizational units, or the period for using the menu on the right-hand side. Click on the triangles in the scatterplot to obtain the values of the ratio for individual subnational units. The cursor can also be used to select the bars on the drop-out rate bar chart in order to view values for the subnational unit depicted.



Figure 19. DHIS2 Data Quality tool – consistency data
Consistency – outliers

The dashboard also contains a section to help identify outliers for core indicators configured in the **More**—>**Administration** tab. Outliers are identified by comparing monthly values for an administrative unit to the mean of values for the year for the same administrative unit. Monthly values that are more than three standard deviations from the mean are labelled "extreme" outliers. Those between two and three standard deviations from the mean are "moderate" outliers. Those values labelled as outliers are shaded in the grid of values displayed by the Data Quality tool (Figure 20).

The values are ranked by severity on the basis of a weight calculated for the outlier (shown on the right-hand side of the page). The weight is based on the size of the outlier relative to: 1) the other monthly values for the year for the unit and 2) the contribution of the value to the total of all administrative units and months taken together. Thus, a large outlier in a large health facility (e.g. a hospital with a larger service volume) would have a greater weight than a large outlier from a small health post. The largest outliers are listed at the top, and other outliers are listed in decreasing value of weight.

The shaded values are indicative of data quality problems. To find the source we need to drill down to examine where and why the value is so extreme in relation to the values around it. To drill down, click on the small black square at the far right of the grid. Clicking on the square produces a menu with the following options:

- 1) *Visualize* produces a bar chart of the monthly values for the indicator for the administrative unit.
- 2) *Drill down* shows the monthly values for the year for the indicator for the subnational units below the original administrative unit. For instance, if you started with a grid showing outliers by region, drilling down would then show the values by districts within the region in which you are drilling down (the administrative units depicted will depend on the configuration of DHIS2 in country).
- 3) *Contact* enables the user to send an email to the unit or facility in question to enquire about the extreme value, providing that contact information has been previously been entered into the DHIS2.

Figure 20. DHIS2 Data Quality tool – outliers

	Completanees			C	nsistency - tim	4			Cor	alstancy - data				0.	tilers				
																	Data		
sult														Options	Download	Previous	Lieta		
																	[Cora]		,
	Data	1	Sec.15	0415	New St.	Date 13	100.35	Ten M	Mar 15	444.30	No. 10	her M	N/ 34	Masing	Outline To	11 101			
ine A	JAC 1 viete	7890.0	7730.0	7117.6	7216.0	2024.0	42764.0	8175.6	7541.0	7212.0	0130.0	7758.0	6705.0		35.605	25400 22	Period		
on D	ANE 1 vers	15478.0	11041.0	113/34	17375.0	12012.0	12361.0	12563.0	119961 0	11/6/0	85/54 D	12850.0	11721.0		2569				
ion B	Pania 3 doese green (HMB)	15905.0	12168.6	12969-0	11205.0	17549.0	12058.0	12381.4	11683 0	11252.0	9552.0	11152.0	11454.0	0	7365	2398	<	5050	>
ion C	AND 1 viets	14213.9	14124.0	12572.0	13320.0	13322.0	13723.0	13634.0	12717.0	13095.0	11442.0	13440.0	12815.0	0	1991	1931 🔳	January	February	March
And	ANC 4 visits	2611.0	1774.0	1577.0	1473.0	1481.0	1376.0	1608.0	1503.0	1495.0	1400.0	1350.0	1358.0	0	1115	1116 🗮	April	May	June
Son D	ANC 1 visits	6322.0	6099.0	5655.0	5900.0	5725.0	5970.0	6029.0	5061.0	6100.0	4930.0	6325.0	5940.0	0	1065	1065 28	July	August	September
fon C	ANC 4 visits	2977.0	2625.0	2290.0	2585.0	2009.0	2007.0	3151.0	3020.0	2604.0	2675.0	2962.0	3000.0	0	555	556 III	October	November	December
on D	ANC 4 visits	2444.0	2407.0	2215 0	2203.0	2378.0	2499.0	2095.0	2058.0	2243.0	2612.0	2491.0	2458.0	0	477	477 📰			Pression.
																	Organisatic Doundary National	onins up to an h will be used on unit Other	o nevarg ne
																	Disaggregati	um	
																	Dealers		

Analysis tab

The **Analysis** tab allows you to go beyond what has been configured into the core data set and analyse any indicator or data element that is contained in the local instance of the DHIS2. There are two options within Analysis, namely: 1) Outliers and missing data, and 2) Consistency.

Outliers and Missing Data

The **Outliers and Missing Data** option produces a similar grid of outliers ranked by severity as in the dashboard. The principal difference between the outliers identified in the **Analysis** tab and the dashboard is that the **Analysis** tab gives the ability to select any existing indicator or data element in the DHIS2, plus some enhanced options for the type of outlier identified.

First, select the data element/indicator of interest (Figure 21):

- Select one of the following:
 - Data set, and a data element
 - Data element group, and a data element
 - Indicator group, and an indicator.

The choice will depend on the needs for the analysis and on the way in which the data are configured in DHIS2. For example, data element groups need to be established by the user prior to their selection in the menu. Also, indicators need to be calculated on the basis of data elements, and this also needs to be done (in DHIS2) prior to their selection in the menu.

Figure 21. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool – Analysis tab, select data

Data Quality Tool Dustabourd	Analysia - Annual Report - A	ibout More-
Outliers and Missing Data		
Data		
Data set		
Data set	• 1012	s Delais
Data element.		
Data element group	• Total	is Details
Select data element		
Indicators		
Indicator group		•
Select indicator		
Period		
Orgunit		

Select the period:

- "Recent" provides the most recent number of periods (i.e. monthly, weekly) specified on the drop-down lists (e.g. the last 12 months).
- Year" allows you to choose the year and the periods within the year.
- "Custom" gives the opportunity to select any date range by selecting a start date and end date from the menu (Figure 22).

Figure 22. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool – selecting the period for analysis



29

Ф

Select the boundaries:

- Select "National" to view the results for the whole country, and a level for disaggregation (depending on the organizational units configured in the DHIS2).
- Select "Other" to select specific subnational units (Figure 23).

Figure 23. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool – select boundaries for analysis

Data Quality Tool Dashboard Analysis-	Annual Report About More+	
tliers and Missing Data		
Data		
Period		
Orgunit		
Soundary National Other		
= National + Region A		
Region B Ottic: E Ottic: J		
Diatrics K Diatrics P		
Region D	. *	
Nsaggregation		
Diarid	X •	
Organisation and group		
Selected Region B > Electrict		

Click "Analyze" to view the results.

The submenu under the Analyze button provides further options for the analysis. Click "Options" (Figure 24):

- * "Display columns" allows you to specify which output you want to see all, or only missing data, or only outliers.
- "Outlier filter", when activated by selecting either Standard Score or Modified Z Score, allows you to toggle between outliers in relation to the mean or the median. Select "Moderate" and "Extreme" to toggle between extreme outliers (> 3 SDs from the mean) or moderate outliers (2–3 SDs from the mean).
- The "Download" button (next to the "Options" button) allows you to download the table of data you are viewing to a .csv file.
- The "Previous" button allows you to go back to the previous view (prior to the most recent change in options).

Figure 24.	DHIS2 WHO Data	Quality tool –	select different	options for the	e analysis
-		· ·			

		and realized in	Annual Report A	Dout More*														
utliers and	Missing Data																	
Data																		
Period																		
Orgunit																		
the																Opfic	ns Download	1 Previo
Port.																		
splay colum	WIS IN COLUMN	0.000																
~	Missing Cata	Outliers																
Include Z-e	core																	
utilar filter																		
lutiler filter																		
utiler filter Off	Standard Scor	re Modified Z Score																
utiler filter Off	Standard Scor	Modified Z Score																
utiler filter Of	Standard Scor	e Modified Z Score Extreme																
utiler filter Of	Standard Scor	Modified Z-Score																
utiler filter Off	Standard Scor	re Modified Z Score Extreme													Weight 6			
utlier filter Off Mo	Standard Scor	e Modified Z Score Extreme	Aug 19	Sep 19	Oet 19	Nov 19	Dec 19	Jan 20	Feb 20	Mar 20	Apr 20	May 20	Jun 26	Jat 20	Weight B Meening	Outline	Total IP	
utiler filter Off Mor pon gon A	Standard Scor dente Unit Detrot F	e Modified Z Score Extreme Data MRC 1 wate	Aug 19 1513.0	Sep 19 1338-0	Det 19 1322 0	Nov 19 5434	(Jac 19) 1304 (Jan 26 36835 (Path 20 5327 0	Mar 20 1446 0	Apr 20 1425 0	May 20 12,00	Jun 26 0	Jul 20 5457 9	Weight B Mesong 1325 P	Outber 0	Total 17 35469	35460 8
pon geon goon 5	Standard Scor denate Unit Defind F Defind P	Balance Modified Z Score Extreme Data ANC 1 water ANC 1 water	Aug 19 1513 6 2029 6	Sep 19 1335.0 2138.0	Der 19 1322 8 2282 8	Nov 15 5434 2458	Dec 19 9 1304 (9 2307 (Jan 20 30356 8 2428 8	Feb 20 1327 0 2401 0	Mar 28 1449 0 2145 0	Apr 20 1425.0 2530.0	May 20 12/40 1542	Jun 20 0	Jul 20 5457 0 2235 0	Weight @ Maxing 1325 9 1730 9	Outlier 0 0	Fotal 1 35469 725	35-460 E
geon geon geon b gor b	Standard Scor denate Unit Detrot P Detrot P Detrot 8	e Modified Z Score Extreme Data ANC 1 years ANC 1 years	Aug 19 1513 0 2029 0 1611 0	Sep 19 1336 0 2138 0 1638 0	Der 19 13/2 8 2282 8 161/ 9	Nov 19 1434 2458 1633	Use 19 0 1304 0 0 2307 0 0 1025 0	Jan 20 30835 (2403 (1741 (Feb 20 1327 0 2401 0 1978 0	Mar 26 1449 0 2145 0 1687 0	Apr 20 1405.0 2530.0 1780.0	May 20 12,00 1542 19,96	Jun 70 0 0	Jul 20 5412 0 2/35 0 1051 0	Weight @ Meening 1325.9 1/30.9 1583.9	Cuther 0 0 0	Total I 35460 725 705	35-460 II 725 II 705 II
poon goon goon A goon B goon D goon A	Standard Scor denie Unit Delivid P Delivid P Delivid B Delivid B Delivid D	Modified Z Score Estreme Data ANC 1 valte	Aug 19 1513 0 262 0 1611 0 2143 0	Sep 19 5350 0 2138 0 1638 0 2487 9	Det 19 1332 0 2282 0 1617 9 2292 0	Nov 19 1434 2458 1633 2098	Dec 19 0 1304 0 0 2307 0 0 1025 0 9 2139 0	Jan 20 36635 6 2468 6 1741 6 2129 6	Feb 20 5327 0 2401 0 5978 0 2529 0	Mar 28 1449 0 2345 0 5687 0 2173 2	Apr 28 1405 P 2538 P 1780 P 1991 P	May 20 12/0 1562 1996 1543	Jun 28 0 0 0	Jul 20 5417.9 2735.9 1851.9 2235.9	Weight 6 Meering 1305 9 1709 9 1993 9 1907 9	Outlier 0 0 0	Total 1 35469 725 705 845	35469 E 225 E 255 E 965 E
utiler filter Off Moo geen poe A geen A geen A geen A geen A geen A geen A	Standard Scor donate Unit Denot P Denot P Denot P Denot P Denot P Denot P Denot J	Modified Z Score Extreme Data ANC 1 yeats ANC 1 yeats ANC 1 yeats ANC 1 yeats	Aug 19 553.0 2629.0 1611.6 2143.0 1555.0	Sep 19 1336 0 2136 0 2497 0 2497 0 1604 0	Det 19 1532 0 2282 0 1617 0 2292 0 1777 0	Nov 19 1434 1633 1633 2006 2006	Dec 19 0 X304 0 0 2307 0 0 X328 0 0 X328 0 0 X328 0 0 X324 0	Jan 20 30035 0 2403 0 1741 0 2129 0 1051 0	Feb 20 5327 0 2401 0 58/8 0 58/8 0 59/8 0 59/8 0	Mer 28 1449 0 2145 0 1487 0 2173 0 1636 0	Apr 28 1435.9 2538 9 1783 9 1783 9 1785 19 1855 19	May 29 (7.14) 1542 1946 1543 1240	Jun 28 0 0 0 0 0	Jur 20 5417 0 2205 0 1051 0 2253 0 1990 0	Weight 6 Meesing 1/30 9 1/30 9 1563 9 1567 9 1/627 9 1/63 9	Outline 0 0 0 0	Total 17 35460 725 805 805 505	30-400 E 725 E 705 E 905 E
ortileer filteer Off Geom geom geom geom geom geom geom geom g	Standard Scor decate time Detect P Detect P Detect P Detect P Detect P Detect P Detect P Detect P	Modified Z Score Etreme Mass AND 1 value	Aug 19 5535 (2029 (3611 (2143 () 5635 () 1563 () 2228 ()	Sep 19 1336.0 2136.0 1638.0 2487.0 2487.0 2487.0 2170.0	Det 19 1322 0 2262 0 1657 0 2282 0 1277 0 1578 0	Nov 19 1434 1433 1633 2049 2049 2049 2049	Dec 19 0 1304 0 0 2307 0 0 3028 0 0 2538 0 0 2538 0 0 2538 0 0 2538 0 0 2538 0	Jan 20 36835 6 2438 6 1144 8 2129 6 1951 6 2587 6	Feb 20 5527 0 2401 0 5878 0 2529 0 2529 0 2529 0 2522 0	Mar 28 1449.0 2345.0 1467.0 2173.0 2173.0 2193.0 2193.0	Apr 20 1405.0 2533.0 1760.0 1951.0 1951.0 1952.0 1822.0	May 20 52.40 5342 5343 5343 5343 5343 5343 5343 5345 5355 5355 5355 53555 5355 5355 5355 53555 53555 53555 53555 53555 535555 535555 535555 5355555 53555555	Jun 20 0 0 0 0 0 0	Jul 20 5457 0 2235 0 2255 0 2255 0 2255 0 2259 0 2259 0 22594 0	Weight @ 1325.9 1759.9 1563.9 1967.9 1962.9 1962.9 1962.9	Outline 0 0 0 0 0 0	rotal 19 35460 726 395 645 505 534	30-80 I 725 I 705 I 905 I 505 I 535 I
utiler filter Off geon geon geon A geon B geon D geon B geon B geon B geon C	Standard Scor deate tent Dens P Dens P Dens P Dens D Dens I Dens I	Bank Modified Z Grove Editorie Bate AND Tradit AND Tradit AND Tradit AND Tradit AND Tradit AND Tradit AND Tradit AND Tradit	Aug 19 1533 0 2820 0 6611 0 2143 0 1955 0 2258 0 2258 0 2278 0	Sep 19 1535 9 2136 9 1636 9 2467 9 1604 9 2178 9 2178 9 2178 9	Det 19 1332 0 2862 0 1817 9 2292 0 1877 0 1777 0 1578 0 2488 0	Nov 19 1434 1435 1455 1953 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 20	Dec 19 0 1304 (0 2307 (0 3878 (0 3874 (0 2753 (0 275	Jan 20 30035 6 1741 6 2259 6 1851 6 2565 6 2565 6	Feb 20 1327 0 2401 0 58/6 0 25/20 0 9641 0 23/20 0 23/20 0 23/20 0	Mer 28 1449 0 2445 0 1687 0 2173 0 1636 0 2563 0 2563 0	Apr 28 1425 P 2538 P 1789 P 1951 P 1955 P 1982 P 1882 P 1882 P 1882 P	May 29 (2.4) (542) (543)	Jun 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Jar 26 1472 9 2255 9 1351 0 2253 9 2253 9 1999 9 2914 9 2245 9	Vergit 6 Meenig 1555 9 1593 9	0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Total IP 35/60 775 785 845 565 565 565 565 567	30400 228 205 905 905 905 905 905 905 905
utiler filter Off geen geen geen A geen B geen B geen B geen C geen C geen C geen C	Standard Score	Modified Z.Score Direme the ARC 1 visite	Aug 19 1533 0 2629 0 6611 0 2153 0 1555 0 2278 0 2788 0 2788 0 2788 0	Sep 19 1535 0 2138 0 246/ 0 246/ 0 246/ 0 2100 0 2700 0 2700 0 2765 0	Oet 19 1322 0 1807 9 2262 9 1077 9 1578 9 2563 9 1772 0 1722 0	Nov 19 1434 2459 1633 2059 2549 2549 2441 1783	Dec 19 2 3394 0 2 2397 0 3 2359 0 3 2400 0	Jan 20 3035 5 2438 6 1741 6 1751 6 1051 6 2467 6 1728 6 1728 6 1728 6	Peb 20 1327 0 2481 0 2529 0 2529 0 2529 0 2527 0 2517 0 5617 0	Mar 28 1460 0 2160 0 2173 0 2173 0 2173 0 2193 0 2193 0 2193 0 11940 0	Apr 20 1425 0 1536 0 1760 0 1951 0 1962 0 1962 0 1821 0 1821 0 1822 0	May 29 17.40 1945 1945 1945 1945 1945 1945 1945 1945	Jun 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Jul 20 1417 0 2255 0 1501 0 2255 0 1505 0 2594 0 2269 0 2269 0	Weight 6 Maxing 1555 9 1756 9 1556 9 1567 9 1567 9 1567 9 1567 9 1567 9 1567 9 1567 9 1567 9 1567 9	0 Oction 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	100a1 13 35409 775 975 905 905 905 934 927 905	30-400 E 775 E 945 E 355 E 355 E 357 E 357 E
Autiliar filter Off Moo Agoon Agoon 5 Agoon 6 Agoon 8 Agoon 8 Agoon 8 Agoon 6 Agoon 6 Agoon 6 Agoon 6	Standard Score	Modified Z.Score Electrone Bala Modified Z.Score Bala Modified Z.Score Modifie	Aug 18 1933 0 2029 0 0 2143 0 1955 0 2245 0 2246 0 2746 0 2011 0 1944 0 1944 0 1945 0 2446 0	Sep 19 1350 - 0 1550 - 0 1500	Det 19 1322 + 2628 + 1607 + 1727 + 1578 + 2446 + 1578 + 1578 + 1576 +	Nov 19 1494 1495 1496 1493 12949 12949 12949 17981	Dec 19 1394 6 2397 7 1405 6 1405 6 1406 6 1407 7 1407 7	Jan 20 30035 4 1741 4 2159 6 1951 4 2561 6 2565 6 1925 6	Feb 20 1529 6 2440 6 15876 6 25876 6 25976 7 25976 6 25976 6 25976 6 25976 7 25976 7 25977777 25976 7 25076 7 25076 7 25076 7 25076 7 25076 7 25076 7	Mar 20 1460 p 2450 p 2450 p 2450 p 2450 p 2550 p 2550 p 2550 p 2550 p 2550 p 2550 p 2550 p 2550 p	Apr 28 1425 0 1700 0 1995 0 1995 0 1995 0 1995 0 1997 0 1997 0	May 29 (2.4) (5.4) (5.4) (2.4)	Jun 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Jul 20 1417 9 1417 9 1011 9 2253 9 2254 9 2264 9 2264 9 2264 9 2265 9 2265 9	Weight @ Moning 1505 9 1509 9 1503 9 1503 9 1503 9 1503 9 1503 9 2012 9 2012 9 2012 9 2012 9 2012 9 2012 9 2013 9 1558 9	Outlier 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	104a1 17 35460 725 845 505 554 527 305 209	35400 I 728 I 725 I 555 I 554 I 557 I 554 I 557 I 557 I 557 I 557 I 557 I 557 I 557 I 557 I 557 I 557
Autiliar filter Cifi Moo Agoon A Agoon B Agoon A Agoon A Agoon A Agoon C Agoon C Agoon C Agoon B Agoon C	Standard Scor doate End Denot P Denot P Denot P Denot P Denot S Denot S Denot S Denot S Denot S Denot S Denot S Denot S Denot S	Modified 2.Score Decree Material Mater	Aug 19 1933 (2029 () 5611 () 2743 () 1945 () 2215 () 2215 () 2216 ()	Sep 19 1330.0 2135.0 249.00000000000000000	Oct 19 1322 6 2028 8 1617 9 2282 6 1177 8 1573 8 2405 6 1272 8 1520 8	Nov 19 1434 1633 2569 2569 2569 2569 2569 2569 2569 2569	Dec 19 3364 6 3364 6 3466 6 34	Jam 20 30035 6 1218 6 2209 9 200 6 200 6 200 6 200 6 200 6 200 6 0 00 6 00 0 00 0	Feb 20 5327.6 5828.6 5848.6 2258.9 2559.6 25	Mer 28 1460 0 5667 0 2470 0 5667 0 2470 0 5667 0 2470 0 2480 0 24800 0 24800 0 24800000000000000000000000000000000000	Apr 20 1425 0 1726 0 1726 0 1951 0 1952 0 1953 0 1955 0 19	May 20 (7.90 (1949) (1949) (7.90 (7.90) (7.9	Jun 26 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Jur 20 1417 0 2235 0 2555 0 2555 0 2555 0 2554 0 2554 0 2554 0 2555 0 2554 0 2555 0 25550 0 25550 0 2555 0 2555 0 2555 0 2555 0 2555 0 2555 0	Weight @ 1555 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1553 9 1551 9 795 9	Utilier 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Form 18 35600 776 776 785 555 553 557 358 327 328 329 329	35-89 775 965 555 554 557 365 379 279
entileer filteer Off Off geen geen geen geen geen geen geen ge	Standard Scor decide tend tend tend P Celefol P	Modified Z.Score Etheme this AMC11wite AMC11wit	Aug 19 1933 () 2020 () 1943 () 1945 () 2025 () 2016 () 2016 () 1949 () 1949 () 1949 ()	Sep 19 1335.0 2136.0 2136.0 2137.0 2147.0 2147.0 2555.0 1466.0 14	Oct 19 1322 # 2022 # 1105 # 20262 # 1277 # 1558 # 2006 # 1222 # 1550 # 1550 #	Nov 19 1434 1435 1436 1435 1245 1245 1244 1745 1244 1745 1745 1745 1745 1745 1745 1745 17	Dec 19 2 394 6 9 2397 6 9 2397 6 9 2598 6 9 2723 8 9 2725 8	Jan 29 3005 10 174 10 1904 10 1904 10 1905 10 1707 10 1905 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	Feb 20 1127 d 2401 G 550 G 250	Mar 28 1460 2960 2960 2960 2960 2960 2960 2960 1760 1560 1560 1560 2950	Apr 28 1425 p 17425 p 17476 p 1951 p 1962 p 1962 p 1962 p 1962 p 1967 p 1968 p 1967 p	May 20 (7.9) (948)	Jun 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	2255 9 2255 9 2255 9 2255 9 2254 9 2254 9 2554 9 2554 9 2554 9 2554 9 2554 9 2554 9 2555 9 25555 9 25555 9 2555 9 2555 9 2555 9 2555 9 2555 9 2555 9 2555 9	Wangst C 1752 9 1752 9 1752 9 1752 9 1752 9 1752 9 1752 9 1752 9 1752 9 1752 9 1753 9 1752 9 1753 9 1754 9 1754 9 1754 9 1754 9 1754 9 1754 9 1754 9 1755 9	Cuthar 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Note IP 35/60	35-400 728 205 505 555 524 527 325 239 239 279 239

Consistency

The **Consistency** tab under the **Analysis** menu allows you to delve deeper into consistency both over time and between related indicators than is possible from the dashboard.

Select the analysis type: 1) "Between Indicators", or 2) "Over Time" (Figure 25). Depending on the selection, different options are available.

Figure 25. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool – select the analysis type for consistency

🛞 Data Quality Tool Dashbased Analysis - Annual Rupot About Muse -	E.R
Consistency	
Analysis Type	
Consistency analysis type Batricen Indicators Over Time	
Compare organisation units to Overall result Expected result	
Expected trend Constant Increasing decreasing	
Crearies 33 %	
Data	
Period	
Cryant	
And the second se	100

Selecting "Between Indicators" gives the further option to select:

- What to compare, either:
 - Overall result the overall result is the relationship of the two indicators at the national level based on the actual data in the database (i.e. the observed result), and selecting this option compares subnational unit results to the national result. (The "Expected relationship

- 2 option is greyed out and not available when overall result is selected.)
- Expected result the expected result is the result based on the relationship between the two indicators if the data quality is good. For example, for two indicators whose values should be more or less the same (e.g. positive malaria tests: patients treated for malaria) the ratio of one indicator to the other would yield a result close to 1.
- Expected relationship
 - $A \approx B$ means the two indicators are more or less equal.
 - A > B means Indicator A should always be bigger than Indicator B.
 - "Drop-out Rate" measures the loss over the course of a series of events (e.g. vaccination for DTP given in series, from 1 to 3 doses at specific ages).

When "Over Time" is selected from the "Analysis Type" menu, there is also the option to select:

- What to compare (overall versus expected result, as above).
- The expected trend When analysing the consistency of an indicator or data element over time, we compare a value from a recent period to a historical trend in the indicator or data element to see whether the recent value is consistent with what has happened before. What the recent value is compared to depends on the observed trend in the indicator or data element. The recent value for indicators or data elements that typically remain constant over time (i.e. ANC 1) should be compared to the *average* over the preceding time periods (a "constant" trend). Indicators that rise or fall over time should be evaluated differently. For a non-constant trend, the recent value should be compared to a value predicted by the trend (i.e. the slope of the line).
 - constant to compare a recent value to the average value over the preceding time periods;
 - increasing/decreasing to compare a recent value to the value predicted by the trend in the preceding time periods.
- Under "Criteria" one can specify the quality thresholds for the analysis. The default is 33%. This means that subnational units with values (of the ratio comparing one indicator to another) that are more than 33% larger or smaller than the national result (or expected result) are indicative of data quality problems. The default is set fairly high in order to highlight only the most extreme cases. However, depending on the number of subnational units with divergent values, the threshold can be changed to find more, or less divergent, subnational units, as needed.

32 °

- Select the indicator or data element under the "Data" menu.
 - If "Between Indicators" is selected as the analysis type, the figure to the right is displayed. Select either "Data element" or "Indicator" for the first indicator in the relationship. Select the indicator group, then the indicator.
 - Select the data element or indicator with which you want to compare. Select the indicator group, then the indicator.
 - If "Over Time" is selected as the analysis type, the figure at the right is displayed. Select either "Data element" or "Indicator" for the analysis of consistency over time. Select the indicator group, then the indicator.
- Select the period for the analysis using the "Period" menu.
- Select the boundaries of the analysis using the "Org Unit" menu.

onsistency							
Analysis Type							
Data							
Select data el	ement/ind	licator					
Data element	Indicator						
Data element g	roup				• Tota	ils De	stails
Select data eler	nent						*
Period							
Orgunit							
Data Quality	Tool D	ashboard A	Inalisis • An	wal Report	About	More *	
Data Quality	r Tool D	ashboard A	Inalysis+ An	nual Report	About	More *	
Data Quality Insistency Matys Type Data	r Tool D	ashboard A	Inalysis + Aer	nual Report	About	More*	
Data Quality insistency unalys2 Type Data	r Tool D	ashboard A	Inalysis • An	sual Report	About	More*	
Data Quality Insistency Unatys Type Data Select data eler Data ekemont	r Tool D	ashboard A	Inalysis • An	nual Report	About	More*	
Data Quality insistency vnatys Type Data Select data eler Data element ANC	v Tool D	ashboard A	Inalysis • An	nual Report	About	More *	
Data Quality insistency watys Type Data Select data eler Data elemont ANC ANC 1 visits	v Tool D	ashboard A	Inalysis • And	nual Report	About stais D	More* stalls X *	
Data Quality nsistency Anatys Type Zata Select data eler Data okmort ANC ANC 1 viells Select data eler	r Tool D ment/indica ment/indica	ashboard A ator	toatysis+ An	nual Report	About tais D	More* stalls X *	
Data Quality insistency vaays Type Data Select data eler Data skenert ANC ANC 1 vielle Soloct data eler Data element	n Tool D ment/indica Indicator Indicator	anhboard A ator	vulysis* An	nual Report	About stals De	More* etails X *	
Data Quality insistency vaalys Type Data Select data eler Data skerner ANC ANC 1 vielle Select data eler Data element Data element gro Data element gro	mentindica Indicator montindicator up-	ashboard A ator	hadysis • Ann	nual Report	About stails De	More* stals X *	

Click "Analyse".

Figure 26. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool – consistency over time (Analysis menu)



Chapter 4. Conducting the desk review analysis

The output is a scatterplot showing the consistency over time (or between related indicators). A table of values for the output is also available, with the results weighted by severity as before.

Clicking on the subnational units (diamonds on the graph) or within the table will highlight the values and will show a bar chart depicting the value of the indicator or data element over time (Figure 26).

Annual Data Quality Report

The Annual Data Quality Report provides a static report of all the results by data quality domain for the indicators previously configured in the Administration tab. Indicators identified as "core" in the **Administration** tab can be included together, or programme-specific reports can be produced to show all indicators configured in the Administration tab from the same programme area.

Select the period (image at right) by selecting a year for the report, and all data reported for that year will be included in the analysis. Select also "Preceding years for reference" which will enable the analysis of consistency over time.

Data Guality Tool Davideard Andysian Annual Tapan About Mass
Annual Data Quality Report
5/3
Group Server group. Connert Review Radiation Radward Handle HennetRadiation Hittohola 15 Highwie
Calls Quality Tool Devidencer Analysis- Annual Topolt About Man-
Annual Data Quality Report
dex
19800
Tear Proceeding years for references
Organization and

Then select the organizational units as before. Select the subnational unit to compare with national results for all metrics (Figure 27).

- Select "National" and a subnational level to obtain metrics that compare the selected subnational unit to the national level.
- Select "Other" to limit analyses to specific subnational units.

Figure 27. DHIS2 WHO Data Quality tool – Annual Data Quality Report, selecting organizational units

Data Quality Tool	Dashboard	Analysis+	Annual Report	About	More+			D
Annual Data Qual	ity Report							
Data								
Period								
Organisation unit								
Boundary National Other								
- National - Region A			1					
District D District F District N								
District T District W								
 Region B Region C 								
+ Region D								
Disaggregation								
Diarid		,	-					
Organisation unit group								
Selected Region A > District								

Click "Generate" to create a PDF of the annual report.

The report includes a summary with results for each metric by domain (Figure 28), as well as the number and percentage of subnational units from the selected level with suspected problems of data quality (based on the default or user-defined thresholds for quality).

The report contains domain-specific results (Figures 29 and 30) which go into depth for each metric, and provides the names of subnational units with suspected data quality problems. In addition, the domain-specific sections of the report permit the addition of textual interpretations to be included in text boxes for each metric. This feature permits persons who are analysing the data to provide context to the evaluation of results in order to facilitate the drawing of conclusions about the findings. For instance, missing data for immunization indicators could result from a failure by subnational units to report, or from an absence of service delivery because vaccines are out of stock in the those areas. It is critical to have someone with extensive knowledge of the dynamics of service delivery during the period (i.e. a programme manager) to help with the analysis of the findings since such contextual details are essential for a complete understanding of the results.

Overall score		District with divergent score		
		Number	Percent	
	91.6%			01
	20.2%		5	1001
	99.4%		0	07
	90.3%		0	01
Overall score		District with divergent score		
		Number	Percent	
	98.6%		0	01
	20.2%		6	100
	99.4%		0	01
	98.3%		0	09
Overall score		District with divergent score		
		Number	Percent	
	95.7%		0	01
	94.7%		0	01
	97.6%		0	0*
	20%		5	1001
	97.5%		0	01
	Overall score Overall score Overall score Overall score	Overall score Overall score Overall score Overall score Overall score Overall score	Overall score District with divergent score 90.05 90.05 20.25 90.05 90.25 90.25 00verall score District with divergent score Overall score District with divergent score 00.05 20.25 00.05 20.25 00.35 90.35 90.35 90.35 <td>Overall score District with divergent score Percent 90.0% 30.0% 90.0% 100.0% 100.0% 90.0% 100.0% 100.0% 90.0% 0verall score District with divergent score 90.0% 0verall score District with divergent score 90.0% 0verall score Noniter 90.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% <</td>	Overall score District with divergent score Percent 90.0% 30.0% 90.0% 100.0% 100.0% 90.0% 100.0% 100.0% 90.0% 0verall score District with divergent score 90.0% 0verall score District with divergent score 90.0% 0verall score Noniter 90.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% <

Figure 28. Annual Data Quality Report – Summary

Figure 29. Annual Data Quality Report – Domain 1: Completeness of reporting

		reading .	contract confide		1997/112 *					
Ib: Consistency of denom	inators									
indicator						Overall score		District with divergent score		
								Number	Percent	
opulation < 1 year - HMIS	s EPI						101%		0	
			-							
IOMAIN 1 - COMP	LETENESS	OF REPOR	ning							
a: Completeness of facilit	y reporting									
e percentage of expected	reports that have	been entered an	d completed							
ata set	Quality	Overall score	District with	divergent	kcore					
	enversioned.		Number	Percent	Nar	ne				
NC Reporting rate	90%	98.6%		0	0%					
PI Reporting rate	90%	20.2%		5	100% Dis	vict D., District F, District N, District T, District W				
MIS Reporting rate	90%	99.4%		0	0%					
Automity Reporting rate terpretations P] reporting rate is very low	90% - chuck for missi	98.3% ng data from Disa	kta D. F. N. T.	and W.	0%					
latemity Reporting rate terpretations egreporting rate is very low	90%	98.3%	kas D, F, N, T	and W.	0%					
laterally Reporting rate appretations reporting rate is very low b: Timeliness of facility re-	90% - check for missi	98.3%	kas D, F, N, T	and W.	0%					
latarnity Reporting rate appretations energy reporting rate is very low the Temeliness of facility or he percentage of expected	90% - check for missi porting reports that have	98.3% ng data from Disa	kas D, F, N, T d completed o	and W	0%					
atemby Reporting rate appretations greporting rate is very low h: TimeEiness of facility rr to percentage of acadity ra ate set	90% - check for missi porting reports that have Quality therebuild	98.2% ng data from Disa been entered an Overall score	kts D, F, N, T d compieted o District with	and W.	DIP					
atamity Reporting rate appetations graporting rate is very low by TimeBiness of facility or the percentage of expected ata set	90% - check for missi porting reports that have Goality threshold	98.2% ng data thom Dist been entered an Overall score	icts D, F, N, T d compilated o District with Number	and W.	0%	ni				
aturnity Reporting rate uppetations (reporting rate is very low c) TimeBisess of facility or to persontage of expected fat set	90% - Check for missie porting reports that have Guality threehold 75%	35.2% ng data from Disa been antered an Overall score 35.5%	d compilated o District with Number	and W. tome. divergent Percent 0	ons core Nar ons	10				
Autority Reporting rate trappetations in reporting rate is very loss by Timediness of facility or be percentage of expected tate set NC Reporting rate on time PI Reporting rate on time	sorting sporting sports Part Nave Gually threshold 75%	58.3% ng data thom Disa been entered an Overall acore 58.6% 26.2%	kts D, F, N, T d completed o District with Number	and W tome. divergent Percent 0 5	0% kcore % 80% 50% Dis	ne Hid D, Dlanks P, Dlanks N, Dlanks T, Dlanks W				
Assembly Reporting rate mappratisions — reporting rate is very low bit Tenselineses of facility in the percentage of acyected Mass MC Reporting rate on time. MS Reporting rate on time.	orting sports for meal sports that have Quality threaded 75% 75%	50.2% ng data from Disa been entwood an Overall score 98.6% 20.2%	kts D, F, N, T d completed o District with Number	and W time. divergent 9 5 0	0% kcone 0% 150% Dis 0%	ne Hct D, Dawlid H, Dawlid T, Diaklid W				

Figure 30. Annual Data Quality Report – Domain 2: Consistency over time

M. Consistency of indicator values over time		
Meence between the current year and either the average of the 3 preceding years (if expected tend is constant), or the forecasted value		
NC 1 visits	28000	●Orgunite ●Currant = Average @+ 33% @- 33%
pected trend Constant		
Compare District to Current vs Ioneca		
a 39	29980	
Versil 500e (%) 147.81		//
umber of Diebici with divergent score	8	
ercent of District with divergent score 601	*	
and and and and and and and and and and		e 5000 10000 15000 2466 Accepte of Spectra particle

36

o 4 8

Overview of analysis with the Desk Review Excel tool

Figure 31. Desk Review analysis – Summary dashboard

outliers

BURUNDI - ANNUAL DATA QUALITY REVIEW: RESULTS, 2016										
DOI		PEDOPTING								
No.	Indicator	Definition	National Score (%)	# of districts not attaining quality threhold	% of districts no attaining qualit threshold					
Indi	cator 1: Completeness and tin	neliness of reporting								
1a	Completeness of District Reporting	National district reporting completeness rate and districts with poor completeness of reporting	99.1%	1	2.1					
1b	Timeliness of District Reporting	National district reporting timeliness rate and districts with poor timeliness of reporting	90.3%	3	6.4					
1c	Completeness of Facility Reporting	National facility reporting completeness rate and districts with poor facility reporting completeness	96.1%	8	17.0					
1d	Timeliness of Facility Reporting	National facility reporting timeliness rate and districts with poor facility reporting timeliness	89.6%	11	23.4					
Indi	cator 1e: Completeness of ind	instar data - presence of missing and zero values								
ma	cator ie. completeness of mu	Maternal_Health - ANC 1st Visit	98.9%	1	2.1					
		Immunization - 3rd dose DPT-containing vaccine	99.3%							
le.1	Completeness of indicator	HIV_AIDS - Number of HIV+ persons in palliative care	99.8%							
	data (missing values)	Malaria - Number of confirmed malaria cases reported	99.8%							
		Immunization - OPV3	98.9%	1	2.1					
		Multi-program - Penta 1st doses	99.1%							
		Maternal_Health - ANC 1st Visit	98.9%	2	4.3					
1e.2		Immunization - 3rd dose DPT-containing vaccine	99.5%							
	Completeness of indicator data (zero values)	HIV_AIDS - Number of HIV+ persons in palliative care	100.0%							
		Malaria - Number of confirmed malaria cases reported	99.5%	1	2.1					
		Immunization - OPV3	100.0%							
		Multi-program - Penta 1st doses	100.0%							
Indi	cator 1f: Consistency of report	ing completeness over time								
.f.1	Consistency of Reporting Completeness - District Reporting	Consistency of district reporting completeness and districts deviating from the expected trend	105.8%							
f.2	Consistency of Reporting Completeness - Facility Reporting	Consistency of facility reporting completeness and Districts deviating from the expected trend	103.5%							
MO	AIN 2: INTERNAL CONSISTE	NCY OF REPORTED DATA	Notesta		N - 1 11 - 1 -					
No.	Indicator	Definition	National DQ Score (%)	# of districts with poor scores	% of districts with poor score					
Indi	cator 2a: Accuracy of event re	porting - Identification of Outliers								
	Extreme Outliers (relative to the mean):	Maternal_Health - ANC 1st Visit	0.2%	1	2.1					
	Percentage of national values	Immunization - 3rd dose DPT-containing vaccine	0.0%							
	that are extreme outliers	HIV_AIDS - Number of HIV+ persons in palliative care	0.5%	3	6.4					
2a 1	and districts with extreme	Malaria - Number of confirmed malaria cases reported	0.0%							

The tab **Summary_dashboard** (Figure 31) displays results for all Desk Review domains and metrics in summary form, without details or graphics. The standard form for results is the value

Immunization - OPV3

Total % of national values

Multi-program - Penta 1st doses

0.4%

0.0%

0.2%

2

4.3%

37

8

- 8

8 A A

of the metric plus the number and percentage of subnational units that do not attain the established benchmark for the metric. The subnational units that do not attain the standard are listed on the domain-specific dashboards.

Domain-specific dashboards

Domain 1 – Dashboard: Completeness and timeliness of reporting

Figure 32. Domain 1: National district completeness

Indicator 1a: National district reporting completeness rate and districts with poor completeness rate

	2014
National district reporting completeness rate	98.3%
Number of districts with completeness rate below 75%	4
Percent of districts with completeness rate below 75%	5.6%
Districts with reporting completeness rate below 75%	District 1, District 3, District 7, District 10
Interpretation of results: Indicator 1a • Good reporting completness continuing a trend upward	ds from recent years.
	. 0

Domain 1 includes the following metrics:

- Completeness of subnational unit reporting compares the number of reports received to the number of reports expected from subnational units (Figure 32).
- Timeliness of subnational unit reporting compares the number of reports received by the deadline to the number of reports received from subnational units.
- Completeness of facility reporting compares the number of reports received from health facilities to the number of reports expected from health facilities.
- Timeliness of facility reporting compares the number of reports received from health facilities by the deadline for reporting to the number of reports received from health facilities.
- Completeness of indicator data measures the percentage of missing or zero values reported from subnational units (Figure 33).

- Consistency of subnational reporting completeness compares the mean of reporting completeness of the three years immediately prior to the year of analysis to the reporting completeness of the year of analysis. If the trend in reporting completeness is non-constant (i.e. it either increases or decreases), the drop-down menu in cell C92 can be used to select the trend in reporting (constant or increasing or decreasing). If the trend is non-constant and either increasing or decreasing is selected, the reporting completeness for the year of analysis is compared to a value predicted on the basis of the slope of the trend during the previous three years. The actual trend in reporting completeness can be judged from the graphic 1f Consistency of reporting completeness on the Domain 1 dashboard (Figure 34).
- Consistency of health facility reporting completeness is dealt with in the same manner as above for subnational unit consistency of reporting completeness except that it is for reporting from health facilities to the subnational units. Select the trend in reporting (constant or increasing or decreasing) from the drop-down list in cell C93. Again, the actual trend in reporting completeness can be judged from the graphic 1f on the Domain 1 dashboard.

				2016					
			National score	Districts with > user-defined % of zero or missing values					
Program Area and Indicator	Quality Threshold	Туре	%	No.	%	Name			
Maternal Health - ANC 1ct Visit	<= 90%	Missing	98.9%	1	2.1%	District 44			
	~ 30%	Zero	98.9%	2	4.3%	District 17, District 29			
Immunization - 3rd dose DPT-	0.0%	Missing	99.3%	1	2.1%	District 19			
containing vaccine	~ 50%	Zero	99.5%	1	2.1%	District 17			
HIV_AIDS - Number of HIV+ persons in		Missing	99.8%			-			
palliative care	<= 90%	Zero	100.0%			-			
Malaria - Number of confirmed malaria	<= 90%	Missing	99.8%			-			
cases reported		Zero	99.5%	1	2.1%				
	- 00%	Missing	98.9%	1	2.1%	District 7			
Immunization - OPV3	<= 90%	Zero	100.0%			-			
		Missing	99.1%	1	2.1%	District 21			
Multi-program - Penta 1st doses	<= 90%	Zero	100.0%			-			
The ball is discovered and the state		Missing	99.3%	4	8.5%				
rotar (an indicators combined)		Zero	99.6%	4	8.5%				

Figure 33. Completeness of indicator data

Indicator 1e: Completeness of Indicator Reporting - Presence of Missing and Zero Values

Interpretation of results: Indicator 1e

•

•

:



Figure 34. Consistency of reporting completeness

Domain 2 – Internal consistency

Domain 2 includes the following metrics:

Identification of extreme outliers: Monthly (or quarterly) values entered for subnational units selected as the level of analysis are examined for the presence of extreme outliers – i.e. values that are ≥ 3 standard deviations from the mean of monthly (or quarterly) values entered for subnational units. For each primary indicator entered on the Program Areas and Indicators tab, the number and percentage of values that are extreme outliers are calculated and the subnational units are identified (Figure 35).

Figure 35. Internal consistency – extreme outliers

DOMAIN 2: INTERNAL CONSISTENCY OF REPORTED DATA

Program Area and Indicator % Maternal_Health - ANC 1st Visit 0.2% Immunization - 3rd dose DPT-containing vaccine 0.0% HW, AIDS - Number of HIVA persons in palliative care 0.5%	No.	% 2.1%	Districts with extreme outliers relative to the mean Name District 3
Program Area and Indicator % Maternal_Health - ANC 1st Visit 0.2% Immunization - 3rd dose DPT-containing vaccine 0.0% HIV. AIDS - Number of HIVe percent in palliative care 0.5%	No.	% 2.1%	Name District 3
Maternal_Health - ANC 1st Visit 0.2% Immunization - 3rd dose DPT-containing vaccine 0.0% HIV. ADS - Number of HIVA percent in palliative care 0.5%	1	2.1%	District 3
Immunization - 3rd dose DPT-containing vaccine 0.0%			
HIV AIDS - Number of HIV+ persons in palliative care 0.5%			
Inv_Arbs - Number of Inv+ persons in painative care 0.5%	3	6.4%	District 9, District 38, District 4
Malaria - Number of confirmed malaria cases reported 0.0%			
Immunization - OPV3 0.4%	2	4.3%	District 31, District 3
Multi-program - Penta 1st doses 0.0%			
Total (all indicators combined) 0.2%			

:

- Identification of moderate outliers: Monthly (or quarterly) values entered for subnational units selected as the level of analysis are examined for the presence of moderate outliers i.e. values that are between 2 and 3 standard deviations from the mean of monthly (or quarterly) values entered for subnational units. For each primary indicator entered on the Program Areas and Indicators tab, the number and percentage of values that are moderate outliers is calculated and the subnational units identified. Moderate outliers are also identified on the basis of the modified Z-score which evaluates monthly (or quarterly) values in relation to the median of monthly (or quarterly) values entered for subnational units. The modified Z-score is preferable for routine data with large variability in monthly values, or when quarterly values are entered for subnational units.
- Consistency over time: The plausibility of reported results for selected programme indicators are examined in terms of the history of reporting of the indicators. Trends are evaluated to determine whether reported values are extreme in relation to other values that were reported during the year or over several years (Figure 36).



Figure 36. Internal consistency – consistency over time

For this metric the annual value of primary indicators for the year of analysis (aggregated from monthly or quarterly values entered for subnational units) is compared to the mean of annual values for the three previous years. Subnational units with a ratio – i.e. of the annual value for the

year of analysis to the mean of the annual values from the three preceding years – that diverges from the expected ratio (or national ratio) more than the recommended (or user-defined) quality threshold are identified, and the number and percentage of such subnational units are calculated.

Users can customize the evaluation of consistency over time in two ways, namely:

- Users can select how subnational units are evaluated, by either: a) comparing the subnational unit ratio (i.e. the ratio of annual value for the year of analysis to the mean of values for the three preceding years) to the national ratio (i.e. the ratio of the aggregate of the indicator for all subnational units for year of analysis to the mean of aggregate annual values for the three preceding years), or b) comparing the subnational unit ratio to the expected value. The value expected is the value when the trend in the data is consistent. If it is consistent, the ratio equals "1" since the annual value for the indicator equals the mean of the three preceding years. If subnational units are expected to have a ratio that is more like the national ratio (e.g. because of a variation or disruption in service delivery) comparison to the national ratio should be selected. The comparison to expected ratio or national ratio can be selected by using the drop-down list in column F for the line "Compare districts to:" for each of the six indicator-specific dashboards for consistency over time on the "Domain 2 – Internal Consistency" dashboard.
- 2. Users can select whether to a) compare the annual aggregate value from subnational units to the mean of the annual values for the preceding three years (for a constant trend in the indicator), or b) compare the annual aggregate value from subnational units to the value predicted (or forecast) from the slope of the trend line of the annual values from the preceding three years. The actual trend in the indicator values can be determined by evaluating the trend graphic for each of the primary indicators in the indicator-specific dashboards for consistency over time on the "Domain 2 Internal Consistency" dashboard. The trend in the indicator (constant or increasing or decreasing) can be selected by using the drop-down list in column F for the line "Expected trend" in the indicator-specific dashboards on the "Domain 2 Internal Consistency" dashboard.

Consistency between related indicators: Programme indicators which have a predictable relationship to each other are examined to determine whether, in fact, the expected relationship does exist between those indicators. This process examines whether the observed relationship between the indicators, as depicted in the reported data, is that which was expected (Figure 37).





For this metric, annual aggregate values for primary indicators are compared with annual aggregate values for secondary indicators that are input into the programme area-specific Indicator Data tabs. A ratio of the primary indicator to the secondary indicator is calculated and compared with the national ratio of the same two indicators, or with the expected value of the ratio of the two indicators. The expected value is the value of the ratio when the two indicators are equal or, for a ratio, have the value of 1.

There are two ways in which users can customize the evaluation of consistency between related indicators, namely:

1. Users can select the type of comparison of the two indicators: a) that the two indicators are equal; b) that the primary indicator (Indicator 1) is greater than the secondary indicator (Indicator 2); c) that the primary indicator is less than the secondary indicator; or d) that it is a special case of a drop-out rate (a drop-out rate is a calculation of the loss of clients from one public health process to another associated process, e.g. the loss of clients from the 1st dose of DTP to the 3rd dose). Selection of an equal relationship will enable a scatterplot to show the two indicators and it will be possible to choose between comparing subnational units to the national-level ratio between the two indicators, or the expected value of 1.

Selection of any of the other types of comparisons between the two indicators yields a line graph of the ratio between the two indicators, with target thresholds in red. The type of comparison can be selected using the drop-down list in column F of the line reading "Expected relationship" in the indicator-specific dashboards for "2c: Internal Consistency – Comparison" between related indicators on the "Domain 2 – Internal Consistency" dashboard. (Note: Macros must be enabled for the Excel workbook to work correctly for this functionality.)

2. If "equal" is selected as the expected relationship between the two indicators, the user has the option of choosing how to evaluate subnational units, either: a) by comparison with the national rate (the ratio of the primary indicator to the secondary indicator aggregated over subnational units to derive a national value for each indicator), or b) by the expected result. As noted, the expected result for indicators that are "equal" is 1. Subnational units with a ratio between the two indicators greater than 1 plus the recommended (or user-defined) quality threshold – or less than 1 – are flagged for potential data quality problems.

Domain 3 – External consistency

The level of agreement is assessed between two sources of data measuring the same health indicator. The two sources of data that are usually compared are data flowing through the HMIS or the programme-specific information system and a periodic population-based survey.

Data for recent population-based surveys are entered in the **External_Data_Sources** tab. Routine data entered for primary indicators are aggregated to the administrative units of the survey, as indicated on the **Survey_Mapping** tab. The routine data value for the appropriate survey administrative units is then divided by the population value, which is also aggregated to the survey administrative unit in order to derive a rate that is comparable to the survey value for the same administrative unit. The ratio of the routine value to the survey value is then calculated. Subnational units with a ratio greater than 1 plus the recommended (or user-defined) quality threshold (or less than 1 minus the quality threshold) are flagged for potential data quality problems.

In the graphics in the indicator-specific dashboards and the "Domain 3 – External Consistency" dashboard (Figure 38), the routine values are depicted as bars. The survey values are depicted as points (a triangle) with error bars based on the standard error of the survey estimate (entered in the **External_Data_Sources** tab) depicting the range of acceptable error between the survey and the routine values.

Note: this metric requires intensive calculation in Excel which can sometimes slow down navigation within the "Domain 3 – External Consistency" dashboard, or between the Domain 3 dashboard and the neighbouring dashboards. It is important to allow Excel time to do the calculations and complete the navigation.

Figure 38. External consistency – comparison with survey values



Domain 4 – External consistency of population data

This data quality metric helps determine the adequacy of the population data that are used in the calculation of health indicators. Population data serve as the denominator in the calculation of a rate or proportion and provide important information on coverage. The metric compares two different sources of population estimates (for which the values are potentially calculated in different ways) in order to ascertain the level of congruence between the two. If the two population estimates are discrepant, the coverage estimates for a given indicator can be very different even though the programmatic result (i.e. the number of events) is the same.

Figure 39. Consistency of population data – comparison with UN population estimate of live births

o of population projection of live births from the Bureau of Statistics to a ive births projection	
	0.98
pretation of results - Indicator 4a:	
od agreement between official government estimate of live births to	the UN estimate

Indicator 4a – "Consistency with UN population projection" compares an estimate of live births from official government sources to the United Nations estimate. A ratio statistic is used to measure discrepancies between the two estimates. Values of the ratio that exceed the established quality threshold should be investigated (Figure 39).

Indicator 4b – "Consistency of denominators between different population data sources" compares the standard population estimate from one population data source to the same population estimate used by an alternative source. If the estimates are different, they can be compared in order to determine the level of congruence. The default population estimates used for comparison in the DQA are: 1) Live births; 2) Expected pregnancies; and 3) Children < 1 year of age. However, user-defined populations can be used by selecting "User defined" in row 9 of the **Input_Standard_Populations** tab under the indicator column headings (Figure 40).

			_								
2 3 4	Standard Population Estimates by Administrative Unit			Table 9: This worksheet requires you to type/paste population estimates from two different data sources for the year of analysis. Please use "Paste special" and paste only values when you are copying and pasting information. Columns 1 and 2 are automatically populated for you based on information you entered in previous worksheets. Data can only be typed/pasted into columns that are in green. Columns in white are write-protected.							
5			_								
6						Denominators	for Domain 4 Evalu	ation (select using	dropdown lists)		
7	Reporting Structure			Population Data Source 1 (e.g., National Bureau of Statistics [NBS] estimates)				Population Data Source 2 (e.g., health program estimates)			
8				NBS			Maternal and Child Health				
9	Aggregation level			User defined (specify)	Ŧ	Expected pregnancies	Children < 1 yr	Live births	Expected pregnancies	Children < 1 yr	
10	selected	for analysis		Live births Expected pregnancies							
11	District	National		Children < 1 ur		2017	2017	2017	2017	2017	
12	Overall Total			User defined (specify)		1,528,273	1,464,633	1,598,039	1,602,954	1,359,815	
13	District 1	Region 1		25,029		25,029	24,178	25,029	25,029	18,778	
14	District 2	Region 1		33,483		33,483	32,344	33,483	33,483	23,798	
15	District 3	Region 2		59,852		59,852	57,458	80,000	59,852	56,001	
16	District 4	Region 2		31,930		31,930	30,653	31,930	60,000	28,139	
17	District 5	Region 1		17,825		17,825	17,219	17,825	17,825	14,810	
18	District 6	Region 3		14,708		14,708	14,178	14,708	14,708	13,244	
19	District 7	Region 4		25,532		24,188	22,173	25,532	50,000	19,303	
20	District 8	Region 5		45,131		45,131	42,874	45,131	45,131	39,387	

Figure 40. Input Standard Populations tab – input user-defined indicators

The output is a scatterplot with the national-level ratio of data source 1 compared to data source 2 depicted by the dark gray line (Figure 41). The default or user-defined quality thresholds are shown by the dotted lines above and below the national ratio. The ratio of data source 1 and data source 2 for subnational units are shown by the red dots. Subnational unit values that fall above or below the thresholds for quality represent differences from the national-level ratio that are greater than the established standard and are therefore potential data quality problems.

Figure 41. Consistency of population data – consistency between estimates from different data sources



Chapter 5. Dissemination and use of DQA results

Data validation workshop

After the data are analysed using the DHIS2 Data Quality tool or the Desk Review Excel tool, and once the results of the health facility assessment are available, a data validation workshop should be conducted with health programme and data managers to review the results and interpret the findings. This workshop is critical for determining whether the results are plausible and whether they are within the range of expectations. Health programme managers have detailed knowledge of service delivery patterns for specific health programmes and are the best placed for determining plausibility. They can also determine the most noteworthy results from the assessment to highlight them in reports. Data managers can help uncover data quality problems, if necessary.

Results should be presented so that all participants can review and discuss the findings. Open and honest discussion of the results among health-sector stakeholders will improve the quality and acceptability of the results. A smaller group can be identified from among the workshop participants to draft the final report. Table 2 shows a sample agenda for a data validation workshop.

Objectives of the Data validation workshop

- Review DQA findings with programme area experts and determine the plausibility of results.
- Interpret the results and identify key points.
- Oiscuss and identify the root causes of any data quality problems.
- **④** Formulate recommendations to address data quality problems.
- Begin planning actions for system strengthening begin work on a data quality improvement plan.
- 6 Finalize data analysis and presentation of the data.

Table 2. Template: Agenda	a for Data Analysis	and Verification Workshop
---------------------------	---------------------	---------------------------

Time	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5
8:30-9:00 9:00-0:30	Welcome, workshop objectives and expected outputs Field survey and data collection • Data entry • Response rate • Lessons learned from field experience (strengths and weaknesses)	Expected outputs (overview and summary report) Data quality metrics – results and analysis	 Report writing by indicator: group work Production of tables and graphics Draft of narrative 	 Report back from group work Presentation of analysed data and results Presentation of proposed interventions 	Presentation of Data Quality Improvement Plan
10:30-10:45	Break	Break	Break	Break	Break
10:45–13:00	Overview of DQA data processing and analysis Steps in data processing • Data cleaning • Validation by field supervisors	 Data validation by indicator: group work Review of results Discussion of plausibility Stakeholder buy-in and intervention planning 	 Report writing by indicator: group work (continued) Production of tables and graphics Draft of narrative 	Session on cross- cutting data quality challenges • Discussion on addressing data quality issues that affect all programme areas, and interventions to address cross-cutting issues	Synthesis and next steps
13:00-14:00	Lunch	Lunch	Lunch	Lunch	Lunch
14:00–16:00	 DQA indicator calculation Adaptation of the "batch edit" in CSPro (DQA specificities) Calculation of DQA indicators Demonstration and practice 	 Data validation by indicator: group work (continued) Review of results & findings Discussion of plausibility Stakeholder buy-in and intervention planning 	 Report writing by indicator: group work (continued) Production of tables and graphics Draft of narrative 	Drafting the Data Quality Improvement Plan - Issues and interventions - Budget - Stakeholders - Mechanism of intervention - Timeline	
16:00-16:15	Break	Break	Break	Break	Break
16:15 – 18:00	Use of the Excel tool for automated production of "standard" DQA tables and graphs • Demonstration and practice	Report back from group work • Presentation of findings from data quality assessment and proposed interventions	 Report writing by indicator: group work (continued) Production of tables and graphics Draft of narrative 	Drafting the Data Quality Improvement Plan (continued)	

49

Final report

The validated results of the DQA should be written up in narrative form as a report, with graphics depicting results to support the narrative. Graphics can be cut and pasted from the DQA Excel chartbooks and the Desk Review Excel tool or downloaded from DHIS2. Key survey findings should be included, as should recommendations for interventions to address shortcomings in data quality. The report should be disseminated to all staff expected to participate in health-sector planning initiatives (e.g. health-sector review) several weeks prior to the planning event. Other stakeholders – such as donors, technical assistance organizations, relevant national and international NGOs, private-sector bodies (e.g. universities, civil society organizations) and concerned ministries – should receive copies of the report.

The report should contain the following sections:

- Overview this should place the assessment and findings in the proper context for the reader.
- Methods this section should describe how the assessment was designed and should note any departures from the standardized methodology.
- Results this is about what was found in the DQA health facility survey, including:
 - completeness and timeliness of reporting;
 - verification factors for tracer indicators;
 - distribution of discrepancies among health facilities;
 - reasons for discrepancies;
 - reasons for missing source documents and reports;
 - system assessment findings.
- Discussion this lets the reader know why results that are highlighted are important.
- Recommendations these inform the reader of possible remedies can be applied to rectify data quality problems. Recommendations also facilitate the drafting of the Data Quality Improvement Plan.

Outline for the Data Quality Assurance final report

- 1. Introduction this describes the goals and objectives of the assessment.
- 2. Background this places the assessment and findings in the proper context for the reader and relate them to what has come before.

- 3. Methods this section describes how the assessment was conducted and notes any departures from the standardized methodology. The section includes:
 - 3.1. Indicator selection
 - 3.2. Master facility List
 - 3.3. Sampling
 - 3.3.1. Weighting of indicators
 - 3.4. Data collection
 - 3.5. Data validation and analysis
 - 3.6. Quality assurance.
- 4. Results This describes what was found by the DQA health facility survey. The section includes:
 - 4.1. Completeness and timeliness of reporting
 - 4.2. Verification factors for tracer indicators
 - 4.3. Distribution of discrepancies among health facilities
 - 4.4. Reasons for discrepancies
 - 4.5. Reasons for missing source documents and reports
 - 4.6. System assessment findings.
- 5. Desk review results, namely:
 - 5.1. Domain 1 Completeness and timeliness
 - 5.2. Domain 2 Internal consistency
 - 5.3. Domain 3 External consistency
 - 5.4. Domain 4 Consistency of population data.
- 6. Discussion this lets the reader know why highlighted results are important. This section includes:
 - 6.1. Principal findings and what they mean
 - 6.2. Unexpected results
 - 6.3. Challenges encountered
 - 6.4. Limitations to the survey results (if any).
- 7. Recommendations this section lets the reader know what possible remedies can be applied to rectify data quality problems.
- 8. Annex of data tables, namely:
 - 8.1. Survey estimates by indicator
 - 8.2. Other results.

Develop a Data Quality Improvement Plan¹

Purpose

The purpose of the Data Quality Improvement Plan is to outline the steps and inputs required to address the causes of data quality problems found during the DQA. Needs should be identified and prioritized, and interventions should be developed and costed to address those needs. A mechanism for monitoring and coordination should be identified or created to ensure that interventions are implemented in good time and within the allotted budget. The goal of the plan is to improve both the quality of the data and the performance of the routine health information system. To meet this goal the plan should provide specific and practical actions that, when implemented, will improve the quality of the data.

Best practices for developing the Data Quality Improvement Plan:

- The development and implementation of the Data Quality Improvement Plan should be led by the Ministry of Health (or other government ministry responsible for the management and upkeep of the health information system).
- The improvement plan should be developed in collaboration with important stakeholders – such as donors, partners and NGOs – to ensure consensus and stakeholder buy-in.
- The activities and interventions in the improvement plan should be relevant to the context in the country and should address the priority needs of the country or organization, including its subunits.
- The interventions should build on what already exists and should be both feasible and appropriate for the context of the health information system and the health system workforce.
- The activities and interventions should promote and facilitate the sustainability of the information system so that the system can satisfy the information needs of the present and can evolve as those needs change.

Data Quality Improvement Plan – the process

Engage stakeholders

To ensure optimum development and implementation of the Data Quality Improvement Plan, important stakeholders should be brought in to participate. Being part of the development

Adapted from: Moving from assessment to action (user's kit). Chapel Hill (NC): Performance of Routine Information System Management (PRISM) — MEASURE Evaluation, October 2018 (https://www.measureevaluation.org/resources/tools/health-information-systems/prism/performance-of-routine-information-system-management-prism-users-kit-moving-from-assessment-to-action/view, accessed 28 September 2020).

process will encourage stakeholders to invest in the success of the plan, and will help ensure continued support and buy-in. The interests, requirements and priorities of stakeholders should be understood, as should their capacity to commit resources to ensure success. There are likely to be many stakeholders, although not all will need to be involved. Sometimes having too many stakeholders can inhibit the development of a responsive plan. Know your stakeholders and choose them strategically – i.e. choose those that will give the Data Quality Improvement Plan the best chances for success. Stakeholders can help advocate for necessary changes and can mobilize resources to assist with implementation.

A stakeholder engagement matrix can help identify organizations and individuals who have a stake in the improvement of the information system.

A stakeholder engagement matrix (Table 3) can help you identify the organizations, people and groups who are the stakeholders in a data quality improvement process – as contributors, influencers or beneficiaries. The matrix is a structured way to define the roles that stakeholders play in the activity and to assess the resources they could bring to bear. The matrix also provides a framework for assessing the stakeholders' interests, knowledge, positions, alliances, resources, power and importance – Who will resist the initiative? Who will support it? What are their reasons? The matrix helps in assessing which stakeholders to include in the process by determining their relative importance. Which stakeholders have the highest priority for success of the plan?

The identification and engagement of relevant stakeholders contributes to the development of an improvement plan that meets everyone's expectations and needs.

Data Quality Assurance. Module 2: Discrete desk review of data quality — Implementation guide

1
_
-
1
-
_
D
-
1
<u> </u>
5
-
2
Ð
Ð
-0
_
0
Ĩ,
U
×
G
Š
•••
\mathbf{m}
A 1
<u>_</u>
-
םי.

Name of stakeholder organization, group or individual National, regional or local?	Stakeholder description Primary purpose, affiliation, funding	Potential role in the issue or activity Vested interest in the activity	Level of knowledge of the issue Specific areas of expertise	Level of commitment Support or oppose the activity, to what extent, and why?	Available resources Staff, volunteers, money, technology, influence influence	Constraints Limitations: need funds to participate, lack of personnel, political or other barriers	Engagement strategy How will you engage this stakeholder in the activity?	Follow-up strategy Plans for feedback or continued involvement
Government sector								
Political sector								
Commercial sector								
Nongovernmental se	ctor							
Other civil society								
Donors and partners								

54

Review of DQA results

A formal review of the DQA's results is a good way to understand and prioritize the data quality problems that the assessment has identified. The assessment is an opportunity to discuss potential solutions, prioritize recommendations and prepare a realistic action plan. To encourage and promote ownership of the assessment results, it is recommended to begin by conducting an internal review with the Ministry of Health followed by a review in a workshop setting with a broader group of participants. During this phase of reviewing and analysing the results of the assessment, it is important to ensure that the designated participants from the Ministry of Health and other stakeholder organizations are capable of analysing the DQA's findings, are knowledgeable about the country context and the country's HMIS and, therefore, have the ability to recommend appropriate actions to improve data quality. To ensure a productive review workshop, give the assessment report, charts, graphs and other relevant materials to the participants in advance so that they can prepare. Also identify facilitators who have the skills to keep participants focused and on track to achieve the workshop's expected outcomes.

The review workshop can be combined with the action planning phase. If it is decided to make action planning part of the workshop, ensure that the workshop participants have the authority to make decisions. Alternatively, the first part of the workshop can be for experts of the health information system or health programme to review and validate the quality and relevance of the assessment results and prepare summaries and presentations for the decision-makers. In the second part of the workshop, relevant decision-makers would join the health information system experts. The decision-makers would be briefed on the assessment results and recommendations, would contribute to specifying actions and interventions to address the findings and define the timelines, and would identify responsible persons and organizations and resources required.

In order for the review and formulation of relevant recommendations to be effective, it is recommended to conduct discussions in small groups. The groups should have equal representation from the following categories of participant:

- decision-makers and other users
- health programme managers
- > data managers and M&E specialists
- health providers.

The composition of, and tasks assigned to, each group may be as follows:

- by health programme area (e.g. maternal health, child health, HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria, etc.)
- by level of the health system (e.g. national, regional, district, health facility/community).

Results to be reviewed are as follows:

- Output from the DV/SA
 - accuracy by indicator
 - timeliness and completeness
 - system assessment.
- Desk review of data quality
 - completeness
 - internal consistency (including outliers, trends over time, and consistency between related indicators)
 - external consistency (including comparisons with population-based survey data and with alternative data sets (e.g. programme-specific databases)
 - review of population data (including comparisons between official government statistics and alternative sources such as the United Nations and country health programmes).

A plenary session should follow the group discussions, to enable all participants to provide feedback and input on the groups' ideas and proposals, and to learn from one another.

If the review of the DQA assessment and the formulation of recommendations are conducted separately from the action planning session, the assessment results and recommendations should be disseminated to the relevant decision-makers to support them in identifying appropriate strategies and actions for strengthening routine health information systems .

Action planning

The planning process to improve data quality follows the review and discussion of the DQA results and recommendations and the prioritization of strategies to achieve an improved quality of data for HMIS.

The planning process requires good facilitation in order to develop an action plan that describes specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time-bound (SMART) objectives and activities. Responsibility for the implementation of each activity should be assigned to a specific person or organization.

56 ع

Prioritizing interventions for data quality improvement

When formulating recommendations and developing the action plan, it is important to prioritize activities that will lead to the greatest improvement in data quality with available resources (or for which resources can be mobilized). Sustainability of the interventions should also be considered.

Participants in the action planning session can use the prioritization matrix (Table 4) to score the proposed activities based on their expected impact on data quality and on the ability of the organization and stakeholders to implement the activities. Scoring help prioritize the interventions that are most feasible and likely to yield the greatest results.

High impact 4 A <th

Table 4. Intervention prioritization matrix

The prioritization exercise is conducted through consensus. Participants in the action planning session agree on the level of impact that each recommended intervention will have and the ability of the stakeholders to implement it, while at the same time taking account of the available resources (human, financial, technical, etc.). Participants can work in small groups to discuss and complete the matrix, and then come together in a plenary session to produce a complete and mutually agreed matrix.

The prioritization matrix has a scale for impact on the vertical axis and a scale for ability to implement with the required level of investment (human and financial resources, effort, time)

on the horizontal axis. Each axis is divided into four scores: 1 represents the lowest score for the attribute and 4 represents the highest. The interventions with the most impact, that are the easiest to implement, and that require minimal investment are put in the top right cells of the matrix, and the interventions with the least impact and that are least feasible (i.e. require a high level of human or financial resources or efforts) are put in the lowest cells of the matrix on the left.

Depending on the context, the use of this matrix helps distinguish relevant interventions that are easy, or relatively easy, to implement and that produce moderate-to-high impact from interventions that are less feasible or yield low impact.

Once an intervention has been determined, it should be broken down into well-defined subactivities so that the person or organization responsible for implementation and funding can be assigned. Table 5 provides an example of how to break down the main intervention into subactivities that result in data quality improvement.

Scheduling and budgeting activities

The purpose of scheduling and budgeting is to elaborate the overall data quality improvement plan in order to provide a roadmap for the activities under each recommended intervention. Understanding the work required to implement each recommended intervention allows activities to be broken down to estimate the time and resources required for implementation more accurately. Aligning the activities with the resources they require makes it possible to estimate the costs of data quality improvement efforts and to determine the time requirements, and the timetable, for implementation.

Priority actions	Objective	Activities	Short-term	Medium- term	Long-term	Responsible entity	Supporting partner	Budget
Intervention [•]	I							
Action 1	Obj 1	Activity 1	×					
		Activity 2	×					
		Activity 3	×					
Action 2	Obj 2			×				
				×				
				×				

Table 5. Example table for scheduling and budgeting activities

Monitoring and follow-up

Monitoring and evaluation (M&E) helps in measuring performance and assessing the impact of different strategies, interventions and inputs on the efforts to improve data quality. The results of M&E contribute to the learning experience and help decision-makers to improve the interventions.

The action plan itself serves as a monitoring tool to follow up the implementation of the interventions and activities it stipulates. Moreover, the use of DQA routine data quality supervisory checklists can help track progress in improving data quality. For purposes of evaluation, the next implementation of the DQA health facility assessment (DV/SA) can be used to measure the success of interventions. Regular review of implementation of the action plan and monitoring of findings helps stakeholders to identify any mid-course corrections that may be needed.

Example data quality problems and potential solutions

In order to address data quality problems accurately, the nature of the problems should be understood as far as is possible. Knowing the causes of data quality problems means that solutions can be more accurately targeted, making data quality improvement easier and more effective.

Data quality problems should be defined as clearly as possible. The solution may not require a large intervention or costly inputs. Sometimes the solution requires only a visit to a health facility by a supervisor who will work with those managing the data to refresh their skills. The first step is to define the scope of the problem – i.e. how pervasive is it? Is it occurring in all, or most, facilities? Or is it limited to just a few facilities? The issue is: is the problem *limited* or is it *systematic*? If it is limited, the interventions can be targeted at just those facilities experiencing the problem. If it is systematic, however, a broader approach is required.

The nature of the data quality problem must be identified. Is the problem a result of standard practice at the facility – i.e. does the error result from the facility's usual data management practices and therefore occurs repeatedly? Or does the error result from a departure from standard practice and only happened once, or occasionally? Again, the solution will differ depending on the nature of the problem found and will depend on an accurate description of the causes of the problem.

Solutions to data quality problems will depend on the resources available and the political will to intervene. If the causes of data quality problems are well defined, it will be easier to make the case for resources to address the problems adequately. Problems should be fully described in writing, scoped and budgeted, and then presented to stakeholders (e.g. the HMIS technical working group, or inter-agency coordinating committee) at the appropriate time (i.e. when budgetary priorities are being discussed). The Data Quality Improvement Plan is a mechanism by which data quality problems, and their potential solutions, can be presented to policy-makers.

Below are some common data quality problems and potential solutions.

Accuracy of reporting

The accuracy of reporting is the extent to which the results reported by the facility represent the true level of service delivery for a selected period and indicator. The true level of service delivery is represented by the data in source documents (e.g. register). While there may be errors in recording service delivery in the source document, this is the best record we have of that service delivery. For most data quality assessments we must make the assumption that the data in the source documents are sufficiently accurate for our purposes.

If there are suspicions of problems with the data in source documents, methods exist to determine how accurately they reflect actual service delivery. For instance, we can observe how facility staff record the service delivery in the source document. Is it recorded contemporaneously (i.e. at or around the same time)? Is it done by a trained staff member? Are the staff using standard data collection tools?

The value of the indicator for a selected reporting period – generally a month, or several months if the reporting is monthly – as reported by the facility to the next level (in the monthly HMIS or programme report) is compared to a validated value. The validated value is the value of the indicator for the selected period recalculated by the assessment team from the source documents. We calculate a verification factor (VF) to represent the reporting accuracy for the facility, which is the ratio of the recounted value to the reported value. The VF can range from zero to infinity but a perfect congruence between the source documents and reports yields a value of 1. Values greater than 1 represent under-reporting (i.e. more service delivery was found in the source documents than was reported by the facility) while values less than 1 indicate over-reporting (i.e. less service delivery was found in the source documents than was reported by the facility).

The most common causes of poor accuracy of reporting (typically a VF more than 10% different from 1 – i.e. VF \leq 0.9 or VF \geq 1.1 – although the standard may depend on the agency commissioning the DQA) are missing source documents and/or reports, incorrect compilation of data, inadequate tools for data collection, and calculation errors. There are more precise causes within these general categories so it is important to fully understand data quality problems in order to target solutions effectively.

Missing source documents or reports

Missing documentation is one of the primary concerns when evaluating data quality problems. The effects of missing documents usually depend on which document is missing. A missing source document tends to result in a VF < 1 (over-reporting) since less service delivery could be verified than is reflected in the monthly reports. Conversely, missing monthly reports tend to result in a VF > 1 (under-reporting) since more service delivery is recorded in the source documents than is evident in the available monthly reports.

Potential causes:

- Non-adherence to data storage protocols of the national programme or HMIS. Either some staff members do not know the protocol or do not understand the importance of maintaining a data archive. The national programme or HMIS probably has a protocol which states how long filed source documents should be kept by the facility (e.g. 5 years).
- Inadequate storage space. Does the facility have a space for a data archive? Ideally, the facility should have a room, or a corner of a room, which is secure i.e. only those who need access have access as well as being clean and dry.

Potential solutions:

- Non-adherence:
 - If the non-adherence is limited in scope or is non-standard practice, this may be addressed during supervisory visits.
 - If non-adherence is systematic or is standard practice, a memo could be sent to all facilities to remind them of their data archiving responsibilities. If the failing persists, refresher training could be required for data management staff. Or there could be more severe penalties
- Inadequate space:
 - Institute a programme for filing and archiving, including designating a room (clean, dry and secure) in the facility and purchasing filing cabinets and/or shelving units, file folders, etc.

Misunderstanding of indicator definitions

Problems with reporting accuracy can arise when data managers (or those compiling the monthly report at the facility) do not understand, or misunderstand, what to count. For example, how is the indicator supposed to be aggregated, or disaggregated? What constitutes a client served, or a service delivered?

Potential causes:

- Inadequate training. The training may have been substandard or it took place too long ago. Was the current data compilation protocol for the relevant indicator included in the training?
- Inadequate documentation of reporting protocols at sites. Is there a document that describes the indicator compilation process for each indicator (e.g. a job aide, or HMIS manual) and is there a printed copy accessible at the site?
- Staff turnover. The trained staff member may have left the job for another one and has been replaced by someone who has not had the benefit of training.

Workload. There may be no staff member designated to do the data compilation and the task is left to whoever is available, regardless of whether or not they have the appropriate training.

Potential solutions:

- If the problem is limited in scope it can be addressed by supervisory visits from the district to bolster the skills of the staff involved.
- If the problem is more systematic it may require refresher training on protocols for aggregating monthly results by indicator at facilities.
- If there are job aides describing how to compile the indicators, these can be distributed to facility staff. If there are no such job aides, they should be developed and distributed to facility staff.
- All staff members who compile monthly data should have had the appropriate training. A training database should be maintained to so that the training needs of all personnel can be tracked. A training database can show which staff have had which training and when, and which staff have not or are overdue for training.
- A staff member should be designated as the data manager. A stand-in should be trained to take over in the event that the designated staff person is not available.
- A poster can be put on the wall at the facility as a reminder.

Inadequate data collection tools

Up-to-date, well-designed, and always-available data collection tools are critical for good quality reporting.

Potential causes:

- Indicators have changed since the last time the tools were printed and distributed and the data collection tools no longer meet the needs of reporting.
- There are insufficient copies of blank data collection tools available at the facility so staff use improvised forms.
- If a coding scheme is used, the codes are not clear and concise, or not used consistently.
- > There is insufficient space on the tools to enter all the required information.


Potential solutions:

- Ensure an adequate supply of blank data collection tools. If reproduction and distribution of the tools is more expensive than the HMIS or programme can bear, donor partners should be approached to obtain commitments for supporting reproduction and distribution of essential forms, reports and registers.
- Conduct a review of the data collection tools to ensure that they still meet the needs of reporting for the current list of priority indicators.
- Redesign, reprint and distribute new data collection tools.
- Avoid buying too many blank copies of the tools. Although it may be cheaper to print several years' worth of tools at the same time, this makes the system less adaptable to changes in indicators.
- Supervisors should verify (i.e. take inventory) the availability of blank forms/tools at the sites they visit.
- Ensure the process for ordering new forms/tools is well known and transparent. This should be written up and distributed to all health facilities.
- Investigate the possibility of electronic data collection tools and the transfer of aggregate results.

Calculation errors / recording errors

Errors are inevitable but should be kept to a minimum. If the calculation errors are random, and they do not systematically inflate or reduce indicator values, they may go unnoticed. Even large errors are often masked in the aggregate data at district level and higher. It is better to prevent the errors from getting into the system than to try and find them in the aggregate data afterwards.

Potential causes:

- Key punch errors (for computerized systems at facility level) or transcription errors for paper-based systems. Key punch errors (typographical errors) and/or writing the wrong number, or writing an illegible number that is misinterpreted by a data entry clerk somewhere else, are bound to happen. Humans are error-prone.
- Arithmetical errors may occur especially for indicators with a large volume of service (e.g. immunization in large facilities) which require aggregation of data across daily or weekly summary forms or tally sheets.

Potential solutions:

- For key punch errors, controls can be introduced into the data entry software to restrict entries that are implausible or impossible. For instance, a computer could prevent you from entering service delivery for antenatal care if the client is male, or not of child-bearing age. Some systems can compare the value entered to the mean of values for the previous year and flag those that are more than two or three standard deviations from the mean of values.
- For transcription errors, the best way to prevent these is for a designated person (ideally a supervisor) to conduct data verification on the form prior to submission to the next level. Each value should be checked for plausibility (e.g. by assessing whether the value seems likely given the size of the facility catchment area and the values reported for that indicator by that facility in the past).
- If such as system is not in place, a data quality checking protocol can be introduced and facility staff trained to implement it. The DQA includes health facility data quality checklists for this purpose.
- At district level and higher, analyses such as those proposed for the Desk Review of data quality are a good way to identify extreme values in the data set. Analyses to identify outliers, anomalous trends and implausible relationships between related indicators are all ways to identify data that have been entered in error.
- The best way to identify calculation errors is by conducting data quality checks on the forms before submission to the next level. Also, a calculator can be purchased at minimal cost for the data manager

Missing or incomplete data

"Completeness of reporting" measures the extent to which all health facilities that are expected to report actually do report on a monthly basis. "Completeness of indicator data" measures the extent to which indicator values are included on the reporting form from facilities that are expected to report on a particular indicator. Missing reports and data cause gaps in the understanding of the true levels of service delivery and hinder the ability to make informed decisions based on evidence. The less complete the data, the less useful it is for planning, monitoring and evaluation.

Potential causes

Non-reporting by health facilities. Some facilities do not report when they are supposed to, for a variety of reasons such as staff absences, the lack of means to transmit the report (no Internet connection, no fuel for the car, etc.), or withholding of data to extract concessions during employment disputes.

- Late reporting (lack of timeliness in reporting). Timeliness is a form of completeness. If the report is late it is not available when needed for decision-making.
- Values for certain indicators not included. The causes of missing values are many and are similar to the reasons for missing reports. It may be the data were not compiled in time from source documents, or the source documents were missing. It is important, however, to be able to distinguish missing values from a valid report of zero service delivery. For some service areas, it is possible to have no services provided during a given reporting period. For instance, there could be a stock-out of vaccines making immunization impossible before the facility is resupplied. Many data managers are taught to include zero values when there is no service delivery so that no one at higher levels will misinterpret a missing value for a zero value. Increasingly, however, computerized information systems tend not to store zero values since they use a lot of space in the database.

Potential solutions

- The best way to address incomplete reporting is to try to avoid it. Legislation should be in place to compel public and private facilities alike to report routinely and on time. Facilities that do not report should be contacted immediately by the established mechanism (telephone, email, or other communication platform) to determine why the report is missing and to encourage the facility to send the report.
- Most often, a lack of data does not mean there was no service delivery. The report was just not compiled and sent, which means that subsequent decision-making and policy formulation at national level will not have that evidence available at the required time. One way to improve incomplete data is to adjust the completeness of the data based on the extent of missing data. For instance:
 - How much service is provided by the non-reporting facilities? None? Some? About half as much as facilities that do report? The same as the reporting facilities? More than the reporting facilities?
 - Adjustment depends on assumptions about the number of service outputs (pregnancy care, vaccinations, etc.) provided at non-reporting facilities compared to those that reported.
 - The adjustment can be expressed as follows: $N_{(adjusted)} = N_{(reported)} + N_{(reported)} * (1/(c)-1)*k$, where N=number of service outputs, c=reporting completeness, and k=adjustment factor.
 - An example would be 1000 DPT1 vaccinations reported, but 80% completeness. It is assumed that the non-reporting facilities provide services at half the rate of reporting facilities (k=0.5): N_(adjusted) = 1000 + 1000*(1/0.80 1)*0.5 = 1000 + 1000 *(1.25-1)*0.5 = 1125.
 - Selecting the best adjustment factor for k:
 - k=0: no services in non-reporting facilities;
 - k=0.25: some services, but much lower than in reporting facilities;
 - K=0.5: half the rate compared to reporting facilities;

65

- K=0.75: almost as much as in reporting facilities;
- K=1.0: the same rate of services as in reporting facilities.
- Considerations:
 - Stock-outs (e.g. vaccines) are an example of an actual absence of service delivery.
 - It is important to consider the proportion of all services that are delivered by private facilities that may or may not be compelled to report?
 - Large facilities represent a large proportion of all service delivery, and data missing from these facilities will have a large effect on overall completeness. Is it sufficient to adjust values from these facilities alone?
- While adjustment is likely to provide a more accurate picture of the level and trends of service delivery for priority indicators, it should not be done hastily or without due regard to the integrity of the data set. For instance, do the adjusted values become official values for the health facilities or districts for the periods for which reports were missing and data were adjusted? What if a report comes in late, and the values are different than those predicted? National and subnational HMIS and programme data managers should agree on when and how to adjust data, and how to deal with adjusted values for the official record.

Example outline of a Data Quality Improvement Plan

- 1. Introduction
 - 1.1. Background
 - 1.2. DQA methodology
- 2. Results of DQA
 - 2.1. Accuracy by indicator
 - 2.2. Timeliness & completeness
 - 2.3. System assessment
 - 2.4. Results of Desk Review of Data Quality
 - 2.5. Results of routine data quality checks during supervision
 - 2.6. Review of systematic data quality problems identified through routine supervision
- 3. Cross-cutting interventions to address cross-cutting data quality problems
 - 3.1. Activities
 - 3.2. Responsible agencies and partners
 - 3.3. Budget
 - 3.4. Timeline
 - 3.5. Agency or unit responsible for monitoring & follow-up of implementation
- 4. Maternal & Child Health interventions to address MCH data quality problems
 - 4.1. Activities
 - 4.2. Responsible agencies and partners

- 4.3. Budget
- 4.4. Timeline
- 4.5. Agency or unit responsible for monitoring & follow-up of implementation
- 5. Immunization programme interventions to address immunization programme data quality problems
 - 5.1. Activities
 - 5.2. Responsible agencies and partners
 - 5.3. Budget
 - 5.4. Timeline
 - 5.5. Agency or unit responsible for monitoring & follow-up of implementation
- 6. HIV/AIDS programme interventions to address HIV/AIDS programme data quality problems
 - 6.1. Activities
 - 6.2. Responsible agencies and partners
 - 6.3. Budget
 - 6.4. Timeline
 - 6.5. Agency or unit responsible for monitoring & follow-up of implementation
- 7. TB Programme interventions to address TB programme data quality problems
 - 7.1. Activities
 - 7.2. Responsible agencies and partners
 - 7.3. Budget
 - 7.4. Timeline
 - 7.5. Agency or unit responsible for monitoring & follow-up of implementation
- 8. Malaria programme interventions to address malaria programme data quality problems 8.1. Activities
 - 8.2. Responsible agencies and partners
 - 8.3. Budget
 - 8.4. Timeline
 - 8.5. Agency or unit responsible for monitoring & follow-up of implementation
- 9. Monitoring and oversight of implementation
 - 9.1. Agency responsible for implementation
 - 9.2. Plan for monitoring and evaluation
- 10. Overall programme budget
- 11. Overall programme timeline
- 12. Conclusion

Annex 1: Recommended indicators

Core indicators

Recommended DQA indicators				
Programme area	Indicator name	Full indicator		
Maternal health	Antenatal care 1 st visit (ANC1) coverage	Number (%) of pregnant women who received antenatal care at least once during their pregnancy		
Immunization	DTP3/Penta3 coverage	Number (%) of children < 1 year receiving three doses of DTP/Penta vaccine		
HIV	Currently on ART	Number and $\%$ of people living with HIV who are currently receiving ART		
ТВ	TB notification rate	Number of new and relapse cases of TB that are notified per 100 000 population		
Malaria	Total confirmed malaria cases ¹	Confirmed malaria cases (microscopy or RDT) per 1000 persons per year		

Note: ANC = antenatal care; ART = antiretroviral therapy; DTP3 = diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis three-dose vaccine; Penta = pentavalent vaccine; RDT = rapid diagnostic test.

Additional indicators

Recommended DQR indicators				
Programme area	Indicator name Full indicator			
ΗIV	People living with HIV who have been diagnosed	Number (%) of people living with HIV who have been diagnosed		
	HIV care coverage	Number (%) of people living with HIV who are receiving HIV care (including ART)		
	PMTCT ART coverage	Number (%) of HIV-positive pregnant women who received ART during pregnancy		
	ART retention	Number (%) of people living with HIV and on ART who are retained on ART 12 months after initiation (and after 24, 36, 48 and 60 months)		
	Viral suppression	Number (%) of people on ART who have suppressed viral load		
ТВ	Notified cases of all forms of TB	Number of new and relapse cases of TB that are notified per 100 000 population – Assess if quarterly case notification report blocks 1 and 2 ¹ are correct as per standards and benchmarks (B1.4) for paper-based systems ²		
	TB treatment success rate	Number (%) of TB cases successfully treated (cured plus treatment completed) among TB cases notified to the national health authorities during a specified period – Assess if quarterly treatment outcome report block 1 is correct as per standards and benchmarks (B.14) for paper-based systems		
	Second-line TB treatment success rate	Number (%) of TB cases successfully treated (cured plus treatment completed) among all confirmed RR-TB/MDR-TB cases started on second-line treatment during the period of assessment		

ტ ٤

 ¹ Definitions and reporting framework for tuberculosis – 2013 revision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (WHO/HTM/TB/2013.2; https://apps.who. int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/79199/9789241505345_eng.pdf?sequence=1, accessed 20 July 2020).
 ² Standards and benchmarks for tuberculosis surveillance and vital registration systems: checklist and user guide. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014

⁽WHO/HTM/TB/2014.02; http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/112673/1/9789241506724_eng.pdf?ua=1, accessed 20 July 2020).

Additional indicators, continued

Recommended DQR ind	licators			
Programme area	Indicator name	Full indicator		
TB-HIV	Proportion of registered new and relapse TB patients with documented HIV status	Number of new and relapse TB patients who had an HIV test result recorded in the TB register, expressed as a percentage of the number registered during the reporting period		
	Proportion of HIV-positive new and relapse TB patients on ART during TB treatment	Number of HIV-positive new and relapse TB patients who received ART during TB treatment expressed as a percentage of those registered during the reporting period		
Malaria	Malaria diagnostic testing rate	Number (%) of all suspected malaria cases that received a parasitological test [= Number tested / (number tested + number presumed)]		
	Confirmed malaria cases receiving treatment	Number (%) of confirmed malaria cases treated that received first-line antimalarial treatment according to national policy at public-sector facilities		
	Malaria cases (suspected and con- firmed) receiving treatment	Number (%) of malaria cases (presumed and confirmed) that received first-line antimalarial treatment		
	ІРТр3	Number (%) of pregnant women attending antenatal clinics who received three or more doses of intermittent preventive treatment for malaria		
General	Service utilization	Number of outpatient department visits per person per year		
Maternal health	Antenatal care 4 th visit (ANC4)	Number (%) of women aged 15–49 years with a live birth in a given time period who received antenatal care, four times or more		
	Institutional delivery coverage	Number (%) of deliveries which took place in a health facility		
	Postpartum care coverage	Number (%) of mothers and babies who received postpartum care within two days of childbirth (regardless of place of delivery)		
	Tetanus toxoid 1st dose coverage Number (%) of pregnant women who received the 1st dos vaccine			
Immunization	DTP1—3/Penta1—3 coverage	Number (%) of children $<$ 1 year receiving 1^{st} dose, 2^{nd} dose, 3^{rd} dose of DTP/ Penta vaccines		
	MCV1 coverage	Number (%) of infants who have received at least one dose of measles- containing vaccine (MCV) by age 1 year		
	PCV 1–3 ² coverage	Number (%) of children <1 year receiving 1^{st} dose, 2^{nd} dose, 3^{rd} dose of pneumococcal vaccines		

Note: ANC = antenatal care; ART = antiretroviral therapy; DTP = diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis; MCV = measles-containing vaccine; MDR-TB = multidrug-resistant tuberculosis; PCV = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PMTCT = Prevention of mother-to-child transmission; RR = rifampicin-resistant.

69

S

4

9 ⁸ 4 ٍ %

1 3

Annex 2. Recommended indicators – Quality Desk Review

Program	Data type		Indicator
General service	Population Routine		Total population
statistics			Total outpatient visits
Maternal health	h Population		Estimated number of pregnant women
			Estimated number of deliveries
	Survey	Core	ANC1 coverage
			Institutional deliveries
		In-depth	Tetanus toxoid (TT) 1 st dose
	Routine	Core	ANC 1 st visit
		In-depth	ANC 4 th visit
			Institutional deliveries
			• ITP1
			Tetanus toxoid (TT) 1 st dose
			Postpartum care coverage
Immunization	Population Survey		Estimated number of children < 1 year ("surviving infants")
			Estimated coverage with 3 rd dose DTP-containing vaccine
	Routine	Core	• 3 rd dose DTP-containing vaccine in children < 1 year
		In-depth	1 st , 2 nd , 3 rd dose DTP-containing vaccine (DTP1-3/Penta1-3)
			Number of children vaccinated with 1 st dose of measles-containing vaccine
			• Doses of PCV1–3 in children < 1 year ¹
HIV/AIDS	Population		Total population
			HIV prevalence to estimate population in need
	Survey	Core	Currently on ART is not normally assessed by household surveys
		In-depth	HIV counselling and testing during last 12 months
			Pregnant women HIV-tested in ANC
	Routine	Core	Number and % of PLHIV who are receiving HIV care (including ART services) (HIV coverage)
		In-depth	• % of HIV-positive persons on ART (or ART coverage) ²
			PMTCT ART coverage
			ART retention at 12 months
			Viral suppression

¹ If the country has implemented vaccination with PCV, note that some countries may use this in a 2+1 schedule by which the third dose may be given at or after 12 months.

² Depending on the country's policies on ARV coverage – e.g. adoption of WHO's 2013 ARV guidelines recommendation of 85% of HIV-infected persons on treatment.

Program	Data type		Indicator
ТВ	Population		Total population
	Routine	Core	Number of notified TB cases (all forms of TB)
		In-depth	Number of TB cases successfully treated (all forms of TB)
			Number of TB cases (new and relapse) tested for HIV
			Number of HIV-positive TB patients initiated on ART
			Number of MDR-TB cases detected
			Number of MDR-TB cases successfully treated
Malaria	Population		Total population
	Survey	Core	Malaria confirmation by health facilities is not normally assessed by household surveys
		In-depth	Proportion of pregnant women treated with 3 or more doses of IPTp
			 % of children with fever who took first-line antimalarial among those given any antimalarial treatment
	Routine	Core	Number of cases of malaria confirmed by microscopy or RDT
		In-depth	Number of malaria diagnostic tests performed (microscopy or RDT; positive or negative)
			Number of confirmed malaria cases (positive microscopy or RDT)
			Number of presumed malaria cases
			Number of confirmed malaria cases treated
			Total number of malaria cases (suspected and confirmed) treated
			Number of pregnant women attending antenatal clinics treated with 3 or more doses of IPTp

Note: ANC = antenatal care; ART = antiretroviral therapy; DTP3 = diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis; IPT = intermittent preventive therapy; MDR-TB = multidrug resistant tuberculosis; PLHIV = people living with HIV; PMTCT = Prevention of mother-to-child transmission; RDT = rapid diagnostic test.

71 9⁸ 4₃⁹ 7³ S

4

Notes



